
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 

YPSILANTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

April 4, 2017 
 

Work Session – 5:00 p.m. 
Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 

 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

HEATHER JARRELL ROE 
MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS 

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 



   Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 
  SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK KAREN LOVEJOY ROE  TREASURER LARRY DOE 
TRUSTEES: STAN ELDRIDGE  HEATHER JARRELL ROE  MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS  

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 
 

                                    
 
 
 

WORK SESSION AGENDA 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

TUESDAY, APRIL 4, 2017 
 

5:00PM 
 

CIVIC CENTER 
BOARD ROOM 

7200  HURON RIVER DRIVE 
 

 
 

1. MANORS AT CREEKSIDE VILLAGE UPDATE...………….………..…..GREG WINDINGLAND 
 
2. AGENDA REVIEW .............................................................................. SUPERVISOR STUMBO 
 
3. OTHER DISCUSSION   ............................................................................   BOARD MEMBERS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Work Session 

Agenda Item  

  
1. MANORS AT CREEKSIDE VILLAGE 

UPDATE……………………………………………...GREG WINDINGLAND 



 

REVIEW AGENDA 
 

A. SUPERVISOR STUMBO WILL REVIEW BOARD 
MEETING AGENDA 



 

OTHER DISCUSSION 
 

A. BOARD MEMBERS HAVE THE OPPORTUNITY TO 
DISCUSS ANY OTHER PERTINENT ISSUES 



 Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK KAREN LOVEJOY ROE  TREASURER LARRY DOE 
TRUSTEES: STAN ELDRIDGE  HEATHER JARRELL ROE  MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS  

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
TUESDAY, APRIL 4, 2017 

7:00 P.M. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION

3. PUBLIC COMMENTS

4. CONSENT AGENDA

A. MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR APRIL 4, 2017 IN THE AMOUNT OF
$546,800.52

5. ATTORNEY REPORT

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE

NEW BUSINESS 

1. BUDGET AMENDMENT #5

2. REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE 
MANORS AT CREEKSIDE VILLAGE

3. REQUEST FOR AUTHORIZATION TO PROCEED WITH ISSUING A REQUEST FOR 
QUALIFICATIONS FOR A MASTER DEVELOPER FOR THE SEAVER FARMS PARCEL

4. REQUEST OF JEFF ALLEN, RESIDENTIAL SERVICES DIRECTOR FOR APPROVAL OF 
A CONTRACT WITH OHM TO OVERSEE CONSTRUCTION OF THE GREEN OAKS 
GOLF CART PATH IMPROVEMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,456.50 BUDGETED IN 
LINE ITEM #584-584-000-701-000

5. REQUEST OF JEFF ALLEN, RESIDENTIAL SERVICES DIRECTOR TO RETAIN 
ARCHITECTURAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES WITH  HOBBS AND BLACK TO DESIGN 
COURT SECURITY SYSTEM FOR 14B DISTRCT COURT, DEVELOP BID DOCUMENTS 
AND ADMNISTER BID PROCESS AND OVERSEE CONSTRUCTION IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $20,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #236-136-000-974-025

6. REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A COMMUNITY TOURISM ACTION PLAN (CTAP) 
GRANT APPLICATION FOR ROSIE THE RIVETER GUINESS WORLD RECORD EVENT 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $10,000.00 AND FOR A MATCHING FUND CONTRIBUTION OF
$1,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #230-751-000-880-000 



Ypsilanti Township Board Agenda Page 2  April 4, 2017 
  

   
    
   
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 
 
AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 
1. REQUEST OF JEFF ALLEN, RESIDENTIAL SERVICES DIRECTOR TO AWARD THE 

LOW BID FOR THE GREEN OAKS GOLF CART PATH IMPROVEMENTS TO BEST 
ASPHALT IN THE AMOUNT OF $257,837.00 WITH A CONTINGENCY AMOUNT OF 
$15,000.00 FOR A TOTAL OF $272,837.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #584-584-000-971-
000 
 

2. REQUEST OF JEFF ALLEN, RESIDENTIAL SERVICES DIRECTOR TO AWARD THE 
LOW BID FOR THE COMMUNITY CENTER ROOF REPLACEMENT PROJECT SECTION 
A TO ROYAL ROOFING IN THE AMOUNT OF $104,477.00 AND TO APPROVE THE 
ADDITIONAL WORK OF ADDING SEALER TO A BLOCK WALL ON THE FRONT OF THE 
COMMUNITY CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,322.00 FOR A TOTAL OF $106,799.00 
BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #212-970-000-976-008 

 
3. REQUEST TO WAIVE THE FINANCIAL POLICY AND AWARD THE LOW QUOTE TO 

SPARTAN DISTRIBUTORS FOR THE PURCHASE OF A TORO GROUNDSMASTER 
7200 IN THE AMOUNT OF $17,927.35 AND A HARPER TURBO VAC TV40 RE IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $21,742.00 FOR A TOTAL AMOUNT OF $39,669.35 BUDGETED IN LINE 
ITEM #584-584-000-971-000 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

 



 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES FOR THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION  

 
Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 5:00 p.m. in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township. 
 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Karen Lovejoy Roe, 

                                        Treasurer Larry Doe, Trustees:  Stan Eldridge,  
                                        Jimmie Wilson Jr., Monica Ross-Williams 
 

Members Absent:  Heather Jarrell Roe 

                      

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters  
 
SEAVER FARM UPDATE 
 
Richard Carlisle, Wortman Carlisle Associates, stated the Township had an 
outstanding piece of property in the Seaver Farm. He stated he became involved 
with the Seaver Farm when the Township wanted to sell it. He said that the Seaver 
Farm is approximately 37 acres and is centrally located near I-94 which makes the 
property extremely marketable. Mr. Carlisle said that his recommendation for the 
property would be to search for a master developer and he believes this would be 
more fruitful for the Township. He said it would be great to find a Master 
Developer for the entire 37 acres but would first like to focus on the north side. Mr. 
Carlisle stated that by marketing this as a whole it would be more in line with the 
Townships’ goals and objections. He said that its’ more than just a financial 
transaction it would contribute to the greater good of the township. Mr. Carlisle 
stated that the property is currently zoned industrial/research/office and is master 
planned for your town center. He said there was potential for a couple hotels, a 
retail outlet, a park, and a residential area. He stated it would be a walkable 
environment, which fits perfectly with the Township’s vision of a town center. Mr. 
Carlisle said he feels optimistic about this property because within a three mile 
radius there is a population of over 70,000 and there is approximate 2,000 
businesses. Mr. Carlisle explained the process to market this project. 
 
Attorney Winters stated that at one time this site was proposed to be used for a 
1,000 mobile home park and the township went to court to stop that from 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 2 
 
happening. Attorney Winters stated that the Township purchased this property 
with the idea of a town center in the future. 
 
Trustee Ross-Williams asked if this development would be similar to the Cherry Hill 
development in Canton.  Mr. Carlisle said they did the initial master plan of Cherry 
Hill and it would be a smaller version of Cherry Hill Village. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo asked Mr. Carlisle if he had other examples. Mr. Carlisle stated 
they began this concept with the City of Howell many years ago when they wanted 
to change the mix of their housing base. He said currently, they are assisting the 
City of Plymouth with a piece of property in downtown Plymouth. He said they are 
also working with the City of Troy.  
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated that she had not heard about this concept before but it 
seems that using a master developer you would create a more organized use of the 
property. 
 
Clerk Lovejoy Roe stated that with the development of the south east corner of 
Washtenaw County and with ACM it’s a good time to see what interest there is 
with this property. 
 
Mr. Carlisle stated that it is the right time for Ypsilanti Township because as 
mentioned you are being recognized in the media along with ACM. 
 

AGENDA REVIEW 

 

Public Hearing 
 

7:00PM – RESOLUTION 2017-06, CREATION OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 
#68 FOR PUBLIC SECURITY CAMERAS FOR THE HURON HEIGHTS AND HURON 
RIDGE APARTMENTS (PUBLIC HEARING SET AT THE FEBRUARY 21, 2017 
REGULAR MEETING) 

 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 3 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

JoAnn McCullom Township Resident stated that West Willow was the first 
neighborhood in the township to get cameras and she supports the cameras. She 
said crime has went down since the cameras were installed. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

A. MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR 
MEETING

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR MARCH 7, 2017 IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $1,839,137.91

2. CHOICE HEALTH CARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFT FOR FEBRUARY 2017 IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $44,861.45

3. CHOICE HEALTH CARE ADMIN FEE FOR JANUARY 2017 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $1,460.00

C. FEBRUARY 2017 TREASURER’S REPORT 

ATTORNEY REPORT 

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE

Attorney Winters stated that at the last board meeting the board had authorized 
his office to initiate the appropriate legal action to padlock two properties that 
have been identified as properties that were allowing the sale of drugs. He said one 
of the properties had 10 pit bulls that endangered the officers when they arrived to 
do follow up investigation. Attorney Winters stated that the properties have been 
emptied of contents and may go up for sale under the direction of the Townships’ 
Office of Community Services. He said we continue to work in the township to seek 
neighborhood stabilization by following up on reports of public nuisance.   



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 4 

OLD  BUSINESS 

1. 2nd READING OF RESOLUTION 2017-04, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2017-472,
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE TOWNSHIP ZONING CODE, SECTION 2109
SIGNS

2. 2nd READING OF RESOLUTION 2017-05, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2017-473,
AMENDING THE TOWNSHIP ZONING CODE, SECTION 401 TO PERMIT
RAISING UP TO FOUR (4) HENS ON RESIDENTIAL PARCELS WITH ONE ACRE
OR MORE AND REQUESTS THE PLANNING COMMISSION TO REVISIT THIS
ORDINANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF 2018 TO REVIEW THE LANGUAGE AND
HOST PUBLIC HEARINGS FOR SMALLER LOTS AND ALSO REQUESTS THE
PLANNING CONSULTANTS TO RESEARCH OTHER MUNICIPALITIES
ORDINANCES ON THIS SUBJECT AND PROBLEMS THEY HAVE EXPERIENCED

Trustee Ross-Williams suggested to change the language from smaller lots to lot 
size variances. Trustee Eldridge suggested to change language from problems to 
issues. Richard Carlisle, Planning Consultant, said he feels the Board is looking for 
further evaluation of the options you could consider moving forward with 
regulating backyard chickens if any.  Mr. Carlisle said after reading the Resolution, 
it is clear to him that you are looking for further evaluation on other options you 
might consider which would include what has been done elsewhere. 

Supervisor Stumbo stated the Resolution would stay as it was written for the 2nd 
reading. 

Arloa Kaiser, Township Resident stated that one subdivision has 50’ lots and 
suggested the Planning Commission be very specific when looking at making 
changes because you can be very close to your neighbor in subdivisions. 

Supervisor Stumbo stated that this resolution did not include any subdivisions. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 5 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. BUDGET AMENDMENT #4 
 

2. REQUEST OF YANKEE AIR FORCE, INC. (YAM) AND MICHIGAN AEROSPACE 
FOUNDATION (MAF) FOR A ONE YEAR EXTENSION TO THE PD #21-2015 
STAGE 1 SITE PLAN AND REZONING APPROVAL GRANTED BY YPSILANTI 
TOWNSHIP ON MAY 19, 2015 PER RESOLUTION NO. 2015-09 ORDINANCE 
NO. 2015-444 

 
3. REQUEST OF MICHAEL RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR TO APPROVE ISSUANCE OF 

FIVE (5) FOUNDATION ONLY BUILDING PERMITS FOR NEW HOME 
CONSTRUCTION FOR THE MANORS AT CREEKSIDE VILLAGE 

 

Attorney Winters stated that Manors of Creekside Village is a residential 
development that has been resurrected by Lombardo Homes. He said when in 
2011 a portion was split off of Creekside South, there was a condition that no 
building permits could be issued until a development agreement could be reached 
between Ypsilanti Township and Lombardo Homes. Attorney Winters stated that 
since January they have been trying to get a final development agreement ready to 
bring back to the Township Board and it is almost completed and in proper form 
and will be on the agenda for the Boards’ consideration on April 4, 2017. He said 
with the spring construction season beginning Lombardo Homes has sold about 5 
homes and they have requested that the Board approve 5 foundation only building 
permits so they could get started on the homes they have already sold. Attorney 
Winters stated that the funds are being escrowed, Treasurer Doe has received a 
Letter of Credit and so if the board has no objections to approve the request they 
will get started on building these homes. 
 

4. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION OF CONTRACT WITH REIMAGINE WASHTENAW 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-956-000-801-
000          

  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 6 
 

5. RESOLUTION 2017-07, OPPOSING ELIMINATION AND REDUCTION OF U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS 
WHICH ARE VITAL TO THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI RESIDENTS 
AND ALL WASHTENAW COUNTY RESIDENTS      

            
Clerk Lovejoy Roe received a Resolution from Washtenaw County in response to 
the Budget that is being presented to Congress and to the Senate. She said the 
County began doing research of what that would mean with the cuts and that is 
the handout that the board received. Clerk Lovejoy Roe said that she and 
Supervisor Stumbo wanted to re-work the Resolution to reflect the needs of 
Ypsilanti Township. She said she contacted Rob Nissly, Habitat for Humanity and 
asked him to put together a report explaining the amount of federal funds they 
have received from CDBG and HUD funds. In Mr. Nisslys’ report, it shows that their 
program works well and hopefully the Congress and Senate will see that and 
continue their funding. Clerk Lovejoy Roe said that now they will send this 
information to all our Representatives in Congress and the Senate. 
 

6. REQUEST OF MICHAEL SARANEN, HYDRO STATION MANAGER FOR 
APPROVAL OF THE RENEWABLE ENERGY CREDITS (RECS) PURCHASE AND 
SALE AGREEMENT    

 
Jeff Allen, Residential Director stated that for the past few years we have used our 
renewable energy credits and applied them to the electric use in our buildings. He 
said this was the reason we are considered a green building.          

       
7. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF TO APPROVE THE 2017/2019 FIRE 

DISPATCHING SERVICE CONTRACT WITH EMERGENT HEALTH PARTNERS, 
INC. FOR THE PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2017 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2019 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $153,221.01 TO BE BUDGETED OVER TWO YEARS IN LINE 
ITEM #206-206-000-857-001  

 
Chief Copeland said this was a two year contract with a modest increase each year.  

 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 7 
 

8. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SEEK 
LEGAL ACTION IF NECESSARY TO ABATE PUBLIC NUISANCE FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 130 S. HARRIS RD AND 2074 MCCREGOR IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$20,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-950-000-801-023 

 
Attorney Winters stated these are the two properties are in extremely bad 
condition.  He said at the home at 130 S. Harris, when the owner was told what 
would happen tonight, he began cleaning it up.  Attorney Winters believes that the 
home on McCregor will take legal action.  
 
Arloa Kaiser asked what was going on in Gault Village and the Nexus Pipeline. 
 
Attorney Winters stated that a gate had to be installed in the back of Gault Village 
where the wall was crumbing.  He said the last anchor tenant has moved out and it 
doesn’t seem very promising over there. Attorney Winters says the court, through 
the receiver does what needs to be done to keep it maintained safely but the funds 
that are coming in may not be enough to cover all of the expenses. He said he is 
still optimistic that a new development will come in and but knows that if that does 
not happen it will continue to deteriorate.  
 
Attorney Winters stated the Nexus approval process has been going on for three 
years.  He said eventually FERC will approve this pipeline. Attorney Winters said 
that although the Township approved a resolution against the pipeline that will not 
stop the pipeline from going through the township. He said as far as the 
odorization waiver, that is separate from the FERC approval, and this waiver is still 
in the process of review. Attorney Winters said he would continue to work for the 
township, keeping them as safe as possible. He said he did not want to lead Ms. 
Kaiser or anyone else to believe that in any way they can stop this pipeline. 
 
Ms. Kaiser said that she has heard on a Detroit Radio Station that said the 
odorization was for our safety but if they are releasing chemicals in the air what is 
happening to our vegetation and air quality. Ms. Kaiser thanked Attorney Winters 
and the Board for all their help with this pipeline. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2017 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 8 
 
Attorney Winters stated that he understands there are other safety controls that 
could be more beneficial than odorization. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 6:18p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                   



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES FOR TUESDAY, MARCH 21, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 

Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 7:00 pm in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township. The Pledge of Allegiance was recited and a moment of silent prayer. 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Karen Lovejoy Roe, 

 Treasurer Larry Doe, Trustees:  Stan Eldridge, 
 Jimmie Wilson Jr., Monica Ross-Williams 

Members Absent:  Heather Jarrell Roe 

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters 

PUBLIC HEARING 

A. 7:00PM – RESOLUTION 2017-06, CREATION OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENT
DISTRICT #68 FOR PUBLIC SECURITY CAMERAS FOR THE HURON HEIGHTS
AND HURON RIDGE APARTMENTS (PUBLIC HEARING SET AT THE FEBRUARY
21, 2017 REGULAR MEETING)

Supervisor Stumbo opened the Public Hearing at 7:01PM 

Supervisor Stumbo closed the Public Hearing at 7:03PM 

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Ross-Williams to 
Approve Resolution 2017-06, Creation of Special Assessment District #68 for 
Public Security Cameras for the Huron Heights and Huron Ridge Apartments (see 
attached). 

Motion carried unanimously. 

PROCLAMATION FOR LINCOLN ROBOTIC TEAM 

Clerk Lovejoy Roe read the Proclamation for the Lincoln Robotic Team – Linc Bots 
6538. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

JoAnn McCollum, Township Resident said she supports the Resolution for raising 
up to 4 hens and supports the Resolution for opposing elimination and reduction of 
US Department of Housing and Urban Development budget. She stated she 
supports all that the Board does for the Ypsilanti Township community. 

Arloa Kaiser thanked the Board and Attorney Winters for all the work they have 
done thus far regarding the Nexus pipeline. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF TUESDAY, MARCH 21, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 2 

CONSENT AGENDA 

A. MINUTES OF THE MARCH 7, 2017 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR 
MEETING

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR MARCH 21, 2017 IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $1,839,137.91

2. CHOICE HEALTH CARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFFT FOR FEBRUARY 2017 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $44,861.45

3. CHOICE HEALTH CARE ADMIN FEE FOR JANUARY 2017 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $1,460.00

C. FEBRUARY 2017 TREASURER’S REPORT 

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
approve the Consent Agenda. 

Supervisor Stumbo requested the responses from Residents regarding the chicken 
resolution be written verbatim for the record. She requested a friendly 
amendment to the minutes. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

ATTORNEY REPORT 

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE – given in the Work Session

OLD BUSINESS 

1. 2nd READING OF RESOLUTION 2017-04, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2017-472,
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE TOWNSHIP ZONING CODE, SECTION 2109
SIGNS

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Wilson to 
Approve 2nd Reading of Resolution 2017-04, Proposed Ordinance 2017-472, an 
Ordinance to Amend the Township Zoning Code, Section 2109 Signs (see 
attached). 

Eldridge:  Yes  Ross-Williams:      Yes  Lovejoy Roe:  Yes 
Stumbo:  Yes   Doe:                        Yes  Wilson:       Yes 

The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF TUESDAY, MARCH 21, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 3 

2. 2nd READING OF RESOLUTION 2017-05, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2017-473,
AMENDING THE TOWNSHIP ZONING CODE, SECTION 401 TO PERMIT
RAISING UP TO FOUR (4) HENS ON RESIDENTIAL PARCELS WITH ONE ACRE
OR MORE AND REQUESTS THE PLANNING COMMISSION TO REVISIT THIS
ORDINANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF 2018 TO REVIEW THE LANGUAGE AND
HOST PUBLIC HEARINGS FOR SMALLER LOTS AND ALSO REQUESTS THE
PLANNING CONSULTANTS TO RESEARCH OTHER MUNICIPALITIES
ORDINANCES ON THIS SUBJECT AND PROBLEMS THEY HAVE EXPERIENCED

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Ross-Williams to 
Approve the 2nd Reading of Resolution 2017-05, Proposed Ordinance 2017-473, 
Amending the Township Zoning Code, Section 401 to Permit Raising up to Four 
(4) Hens on Residential Parcels with One Acre or more (see attached).

Eldridge:  Yes  Ross-Williams:      Yes  Lovejoy Roe:  Yes 
Stumbo:   Yes   Doe:                        Yes  Wilson:       Yes 

The motion carried unanimously. 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. BUDGET AMENDMENT #4

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
Approve Budget Amendment #4 (see attached). 

The motion carried unanimously. 

2. REQUEST OF YANKEE AIR FORCE, INC. (YAM) AND MICHIGAN AEROSPACE
FOUNDATION (MAF) FOR A ONE YEAR EXTENSION TO THE PD #21-2015
STAGE 1 SITE PLAN AND REZONING APPROVAL GRANTED BY YPSILANTI
TOWNSHIP ON MAY 19, 2015 PER RESOLUTION NO. 2015-09 ORDINANCE
NO. 2015-444

A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, supported by Clerk Lovejoy Roe to 
Approve Request of Yankee Air Force, Inc. (YAM) and Michigan Aerospace 
Foundation (MAF) for a One Year Extension to the PD #21-2015 Stage 1 Site Plan 
and Rezoning Approval Granted by Ypsilanti Township on May 19, 2016 Per 
Resolution No. 2015-09 Ordinance No. 2015-444. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

3. REQUEST OF MICHAEL RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR TO APPROVE ISSUANCE OF
FIVE (5) FOUNDATION ONLY BUILDING PERMITS FOR NEW HOME
CONSTRUCTION FOR THE MANORS AT CREEKSIDE VILLAGE

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Eldridge to 
Approve Request of Michael Radzik, OCS Director to Approve Issuance of Five (5) 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF TUESDAY, MARCH 21, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 4 

Foundation only Building Permits for New Home Construction for the Manors at 
Creekside Village. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

4. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION OF CONTRACT WITH REIMAGINE WASHTENAW
IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-956-000-801-
000

A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, supported by Trustee Eldridge to Approve 
the Request Authorization of Contract with Reimagine Washtenaw in the Amount 
of $5,000.00 Budgeted in Line Item #101-956-000-801-000 (see attached).      

The motion carried unanimously. 

5. RESOLUTION 2017-07, OPPOSING ELIMINATION AND REDUCTION OF U.S.
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS
WHICH ARE VITAL TO THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI RESIDENTS
AND ALL WASHTENAW COUNTY RESIDENTS

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Eldridge to 
Approve Resolution 2017-07, Opposing Elimination and Reduction of U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development Programs Which are Vital to the 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Residents and all Washtenaw County Residents 
(see attached).  

Trustee Ross-Williams stated she was disappointed this was a proposed budget 
reduction item on the federal level. She said Ypsilanti Township Residents have 
been helped by these programs. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

6. REQUEST OF MICHAEL SARANEN, HYDRO STATION MANAGER FOR
APPROVAL OF THE RENEWABLE ENERGY CREDITS (RECS) PURCHASE AND
SALE AGREEMENT

A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Wilson to 
Approve Request of Michael Saranen, Hydro Station Manager for Approval of 
the Renewable Energy Credits (RECS) Purchase and Sale Agreement (see 
attached).      

The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF TUESDAY, MARCH 21, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 5 
 

7. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF TO APPROVE THE 2017/2018 FIRE 
DISPATCHING SERVICE CONTRACT WITH EMERGENT HEALTH PARTNERS, 
INC. FOR THE PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2017 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2019 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $153,221.01 TO BE BUDGETED OVER TWO YEARS IN LINE 
ITEM #206-206-000-857-001  

 
A motion was made by Trustee Eldridge, supported by Trustee Ross Williams to 
Approve Request of Eric Copeland, Fire Chief to Approve the 2017/2018 Fire 
Dispatching Service Contract with Emergent Health Partners Inc. for the Period of 
July 1, 2017 Through June 30, 2019 in the Amount of $153,221.01 to be Budgeted 
over Two Years in Line Item #206-206-000-857-001 (see attached).                                                                                                         
 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
8. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SEEK 

LEGAL ACTION IF NECESSARY TO ABATE PUBLIC NUISANCE FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 130 S. HARRIS RD AND 2074 MCCREGOR IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$20,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-950-000-801-023 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, supported by Trustee Wilson to Approve 
Request of Mike Radzik, OCS Director for Authorization to Seek Legal Action if 
Necessary to Abate Public Nuisance for Property Located at 130 S. Harris Rd and 
2074 McGregor in the Amount of $20,000.00 Budgeted in Line Item #101-950-
000-801-023.            
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
Adjourn. 

 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 7:25p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



RESOLUTION 2017-06 

Resolution on Huron Heights/Huron Ridge Apartments 
Special Assessment District for 

Public Security Cameras 

WHEREAS, the Township Board of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

proposes to install security cameras at the public entrances to the Huron 

Heights and Huron Ridge Apartments; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board proposes to pay for the purchase 

and installation of the security cameras; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board proposes the creation of a special 

assessment district consisting of 2 parcels consisting of the Huron Heights 

and Huron Ridge Apartments which will be benefited to defray the 

operation and maintenance cost of the security camera; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has solicited Requests for Proposals 

for the proposed project describing the security camera improvements, the 

proposed location of said improvements and estimated costs; and 

WHEREAS, Conti Corporation, a video security company, licensed by 

the State of Michigan, prepared and submitted proposed plans to install, 

operate and maintain security cameras in public areas located within the 

boundaries of Leforge Rd., the Huron River and Clark Rd. which consists 

of 2 parcels with the following estimated costs: 

Township Costs for purchase and installation
of 2 security cameras: $10,000.00 

Total Annual Residents’ Cost for maintenance
and operation of security cameras: $13,100.00 
(First three years)

Annual cost per parcel $   2,183.34 

Monthly cost per parcel $      181.94 

WHEREAS, the plans, estimates of cost and proposed special 

assessment district were filed with the Township Clerk for public 

examination and notice of the public hearing upon the same was published 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti



and mailed in accordance with the law and statute provided as shown by 

affidavits pertaining thereto on file with the Township Clerk; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the aforesaid notices, a hearing was 

held on the 21st day of March, 2017 commencing at 7:00pm and all 

persons given the opportunity to be heard in the matter; and  

WHEREAS, as a result of the foregoing, the Township Board believes 

the project to be in the best interests of the Township and of the district 

proposed to be established therefore; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED as follows: 

1. That this Township Board does hereby approve the plans for 

public security cameras as prepared and presented by the 

Township’s licensed security system contractor and its 

annual estimate of costs for the operation and maintenance 

thereof. 

2. That this Township Board creates a special assessment 

district located within the boundaries of Leforge Rd., the 

Huron River and Clark Rd.  to be known as Huron 

Heights/Huron Ridge Neighborhood Camera Special 

Assessment District No. 68 within which the costs of the 

operation and maintenance of the security cameras shall be 

assessed according to benefits. 

3. That on the basis of the foregoing, this Township Board does 

hereby direct the Supervisor and Assessing Officer to make 

a special assessment roll in which shall be entered and 

described all the parcels of land to be assessed with the 

names of the respective owners thereof if known, and a total 

amount to be assessed against each parcel of land which 

amount shall be the relative portion of the whole sum to be 

levied against the parcels of land in the special assessment 

district as the benefit to the parcel of land bears to the total 



benefit to all the parcels of land in the special assessment 

district. When the same has been completed, the Supervisor 

or Assessing Officer shall affix thereto her certificate stating 

that it was made pursuant to this resolution and that in 

making such assessment roll, she has, according to her best 

judgment, conformed in all respects to the directions 

contained in this resolution and the applicable state statutes. 

4. When the special assessment roll has been prepared and 

filed in the office of the Township Clerk, before said 

assessment roll has been confirmed, the Township Board 

shall appoint a time and place when it will meet, review and 

hear any objections to the assessment roll. 

5. If the special assessment roll is confirmed, the Township 

Board intends to hold a public hearing once each year in 

future years, on or before October 31st, to reassess property 

in the special assessment district for the costs in the next 

year, and will provide notice of such hearing in such a 

manner as prescribed by law. 

6. That all resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they 

conflict with the provisions of the within resolution be and the 

same are hereby rescinded. 

 

 

 

 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2017-06 
approved by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular 
Meeting held on March 21, 2017. 
                                    
                                                                                    ___________________________________ 
                                                                                                                Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

                                                                                            Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2017-04 
(In Reference to Ordinance 2017-472) 

 
A Resolution Amending the Sign Ordinance of the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti  
 

 Whereas,  the Township Planning Consultants have recommended certain 

changes to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti’s (Township) Planning Commission 

(Commission),  involving the Sign Ordinance as contained in the Township’s 

Zoning Code specifically Article XXI entitled “General Provisions,” and 

specifically, Section 2109 of that Article entitled “Signs;” and  

Whereas, at its at its regularly scheduled meeting held February 28, 2017, 

the Commission recommended approval of the Planning Consultant’s proposed 

changes to Section 2109 to the Township Board which changes can be 

summarized as follows: 

1. While most sections of the Zoning Ordinance have a stated intent, 

Section 2109 did not.  Sign ordinances having a stated intent and purpose 

is useful in legal proceedings interpreting their meaning.    

2. Definitions:  A definition of “bench sign” has been added due to 

current issues involving these types of signs.  

3. Permitted Accessory Signs:  Temporary signs (i.e. construction, real 

estate, etc.) are addressed in two sections in the existing ordinance.  

Ordinance No. 2017-472 consolidates all temporary sign regulations in a 

single section, Section 2109.3e entitled “Temporary Signs.” 

4. Non-Accessory Signs: The prohibition on advertising tobacco and 

alcohol has been removed because it is content based as prohibited by 

United States Supreme Court.    

5. Insurance: Township legal counsel has requested that the 

Ordinance specify an amount of insurance to be carried by businesses 

“engaged or continuing in the business of erecting, servicing, 

repairing or dismantling of signs” in the amount of one million dollars. 

This provision only applies to commercial signs.   



6. Removal of Abandoned Signs:  The existing language has been 

replaced with a more specific procedure in the proposed Ordinance; and  

Whereas, proposed Ordinance No. 2017- 472 has revised the current  

existing Ordinance in such a fashion as to incorporate the above changes 

recommended; and 

 Whereas, the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees (Board) 

agrees with the request of the Planning Commission; 

 Now Therefore, 

 Be it resolved, that the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
does hereby approve Ordinance No. 2017-472 as attached, by deleting in its 
entirety, current existing Article XXI, Section 2109 of the Township’s Zoning 
Code in its entirety, replacing it with proposed Ordinance No. 2017-472, which 
ordinance reflects the suggestions and input of the Township’s Planning 
Consultant as recommended by the Commission.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2017-04 
approved by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular 
Meeting held on March 21, 2017. 
                                    
                                                                                    ___________________________________ 
                                                                                                                Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

                                                                                            Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



 

 

  Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

ORDINANCE 2017-472 
An Ordinance Amending the Sign Ordinance of the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti  

 

 The Charter Township of Ypsilanti hereby ordains that the Sign Ordinance 

Section 2109, the Ypsilanti Township Zoning Code, adopted May 18, 1994, shall be 

amended as follows:  

 I. Delete in its entirety subsection 2109 – Signs. 

 II. Add the following new Section 2109 Signs to read as follows:  

Sec. 2109. - Signs:  

1. Purpose, Intent and Definitions.  
a. These regulations establish rules and standards for the construction, location, 

maintenance and removal of all signs except those exempted from regulation by 
this ordinance. Directional, emergency, or traffic-related signs owned by the 
township, county, state or federal government agencies are not regulated by this 
section. The execution of these regulations recognizes that the purpose of this 
chapter is to protect the interest of public health, safety and welfare and to ensure 
the maintenance of an attractive physical environment while satisfying the needs 
of sign users for adequate identification and communication. In order that such 
purposes can be achieved, the following objectives shall be applied for this 
ordinance and any future additions, deletions and amendments: 

(1) General. Ensure that signs are located, designed, constructed, installed and 
maintained in a way that protects life, health, morals, property and the public 
welfare. 

(2) Public Safety. Protect public safety by prohibiting signs that:  
i. are structurally unsafe or poorly maintained;  
ii. cause unsafe traffic conditions because they unreasonably distract 

motorists, have similarities to official traffic signs or hinder vision; and  
iii. impede safe movement of pedestrians or safe ingress and egress 

from buildings or sites. 
(3) Protect Aesthetic Quality of Districts and Neighborhoods. Prevent blight and 

protect aesthetic qualities by preventing visual clutter and protecting views. 
Prevent proliferation of signs in residential areas and eliminate abandoned 
signs and sign structures on unused properties. Avoid glare and light 
trespass through selection of proper fixture type(s) and location, lighting 
technology, and control of light levels.  

(4) Free Speech. Ensure that the constitutionally guaranteed right of free 
speech is protected and allow signs as a means of communication. 

(5) Reduce Conflict. Reduce conflict among signs and light and between public 
and private information systems. 



 

 

  Page 2 

(6) Business Identification. Allow for adequate signage for business 
identification and other commercial speech, non-commercial speech, and 
dissemination of public information, including but not limited to, public safety 
information and notification as may be required by law. 

(7) Foster Economic Development. Ensure that signs are located in a manner 
that does not cause visual clutter, blight, and distraction, but rather 
promotes identification and communication necessary for sustaining and 
expanding economic development in the city. 

b. Sign definitions: The following definitions are related to signs:  
(1) Sign: Any announcement, declaration, display, billboard, illustration and 

insignia when designed and placed so as to attract general public attention. 
Such shall be a single sign whenever the proximity, design, content or 
continuity reasonably suggest a single unit, regardless of any physical 
separation between parts. Signs shall include banners, bulbs, other lighting 
devices, streamers, pennants, balloons, propellers, flags or similar devices.  
For purposes of this Ordinance, the following additional definitions shall apply: 
(a) Abandoned sign: A sign that is accessory to or associated with a legal use 

that has been discontinued or terminated.  
(b) Bench sign: A bench or chair or an attachment to a building which provides 

a bench, chair or seating device which has been painted, or in any other 
way has attached to it, a sign.  

(c) Billboard: A nonaccessory sign, other than an off-premises directional 
sign, which does not pertain to the principal use of the premises on which 
it is located.  

(d) Building-mounted sign: A display sign which is painted on, adjacent to or 
attached to a building wall, door, window or related architectural feature. 
Such signs would include, but are not limited to canopy, marquee, wall, 
window or temporary signs.  

(e) Canopy sign: A sign which is painted on or attached to an awning or 
canopy.  

(f) Damaged sign: A sign or supporting structure which is torn, damaged, 
defaced, destroyed or has otherwise been found to be in a damaged 
condition by the building official.  

(g) Decorative display: A decorative, temporary display designed for the 
entertainment or cultural enrichment of the public and having no direct or 
indirect sales or advertising content.  

(h) Entrance sign: Multiple-family residential, condominium, Mobile Home 
Park and single family residential subdivisions with more than 20 dwelling 
units or lots may erect signs bearing the name of the development. Such 
signs shall contain no advertising or information other than the name of 
the development, status of occupancy, management organization and 
contact information.  

(i) Erect: To build, construct, attach, hang, place, suspend, affix or paint. 
(j) Front face area: The area of the front wall, including doors and windows, 

of the principal building facing a public street and where the address or 
primary public entrance is located. Buildings on corner lots may have up 
to two front faces if each face satisfies the above criteria. If the building is 
devoted to two or more uses or businesses, the front face area for each 
use or business shall be determined by the building official based upon 
the proportionate share of the building occupied by each use or business.  

(k) Ground sign: A display sign supported by one or more columns, uprights 
or braces in or on the ground surface. Such signs shall have a maximum 
of seven feet and minimum of three feet clearance above ground level.  

(l) Illegal sign: A sign for which no valid permit was issued by the township at 
the time such sign was erected, or a sign which is not in compliance with 



 

 

  Page 3 

the current zoning ordinance and does not meet the definition of a legal 
nonconforming sign.  

(m)Legal nonconforming sign: A sign for which the township issued a permit 
at the time such sign was erected, but which is not in compliance with the 
current zoning ordinance. Such signs must be located outside of any 
existing right-of-way, away from any public or private easement and wholly 
upon the parcel to which it is associated. Such signs must have all 
necessary structural and decorative parts, including, but not limited to 
supports, sign box or enclosure and electrical equipment. The sign face or 
sign copy area must be intact and illuminated signs must be capable of 
immediate illumination.  

(n) Marquee sign: A display sign attached to or hung from a marquee, canopy 
or other covered structure projecting from and supported by the building 
and extending beyond the building wall, building line or street lot line. 
Every marquee sign shall be thoroughly secured to the building by iron or 
metal anchors, bolts, supports, rods or braces.  

(o) Nameplate: A wall sign denoting the name of the occupant in a residential 
dwelling unit or denoting only the name and profession of the occupants 
in a commercial, public or other institutional building.  

(p) Noncombustible material: Any material which will not ignite at or below a 
temperature of 1,200 degrees Fahrenheit and will not continue to burn or 
glow at that temperature.  

(q) Off-premises directional sign: A sign which provides direction to a location 
within the township.  

(r) Portable sign: A sign and sign structure which is not attached to a building 
and is capable of being moved within the zoning lot on which it is located 
or from one zoning lot to another.  

(s) Roof sign: A display sign which is erected, constructed and maintained on 
or above the roof of the building.  

(t) Sign area: The gross surface area within a single continuous perimeter 
enclosing the extreme limits of a sign, and in no case passing through or 
between any adjacent elements of same. Such perimeter shall not include 
any structural or framing elements, lying outside the limits of such sign, 
and not forming an integral part of the display. For computing the area of 
any sign, the area shall be deemed to be the total of the combined area of 
the smallest rectangular figure which can encompass all letters and 
descriptive matter on the sign.  

(u) Sign, accessory: A sign which pertains to the principal use of the premises. 
(v) Sign copy: Portion of a sign which describes the business or service 

establishment, including, but not limited to, the name, type of, and nature 
of said establishment.  

(w) Sign, nonaccessory: A sign which does not pertain to the principal use of 
the premises. 

(x) Temporary sign: A display sign, banner, or other advertising device 
constructed of cloth, canvas, fabric, plastic or other light temporary material, 
with or without a structural frame, or any other sign intended for a limited 
period of display, but not including decorative displays for holidays or public 
demonstration.  

i. Construction: Signs advertising the lots and/or buildings erected in 
any subdivision or multiple-family development. Display signs for 
the construction or remodeling of nonresidential buildings, such as, 
but not limited to, churches and schools. Such signs shall be 
removed upon completion of construction or upon cessation of work 
for a period of six months.  



 

 

  Page 4 

ii. Garage sale: Garage sale signs may be used to advertise a garage 
sale and shall be promptly removed upon completion of the garage 
sale.  

iii. Real estate: Signs advertising the rental, sale or lease of the 
property upon which they are located. 

iv. Sale of produce: Such signs may be erected for the period of the 
local harvest season for the produce being sold. Written permission 
of the property owner on whose property such sign is located shall 
be submitted to the office of community standards. 

v. Special events: Banners and pennants may be erected for special 
events, including but not limited to "open houses" for new homes or 
businesses. No banner shall be strung across any public right-of-
way except as authorized by the township board and county road 
commission for special community events only. Banners found to 
be in a torn, damaged or unsafe condition shall be removed by the 
owner immediately.  

vi. Political campaign signs: Signs announcing the candidacy of 
persons running for public office or issues to be voted upon at an 
election and other information pertinent to elections are permitted 
provided permission to locate such signs on private property has 
been obtained from the owner or occupant of the property on which 
such signs are located.  

(y) Unsafe sign: A sign that is not properly secured, is in danger of falling or 
has otherwise been found to be unsafe by the building official.  

(z) Wall sign: A display sign which is painted on, adjacent to or attached to a 
building wall, door, window or related architectural feature and projecting 
not more than 18 inches from the wall.  

(aa) Window sign: A sign affixed to a window or so as to be observable 
from the opposite side of the window to which such sign is located or 
affixed.  

2. General requirements for all signs:  
a. Construction: All signs shall be securely constructed and in conformance with 

applicable building and electrical codes and standards. Wood products shall 
be of wolmanized or equal treatment. A lightning grounding device shall be 
provided where required. All letters, figures, characters or representation in 
cutout or irregular form, shall be safely and securely built or attached to the 
sign structure. All signs of a greater area than 24 square feet shall have a 
surface or facing of noncombustible material. All signs shall be attached by 
means of metal anchors, bolts or expansion screws. In no case shall any sign 
be secured with wire, strips of wood or nails.  

b. Accessory to principal use: All signs which direct attention to a business, 
entertainment, service or commodity must be accessory to the business, 
entertainment, service or commodity offered, conducted or sold on the 
premises on which the sign is located, except real estate signs, off-premises 
directional signs and non-accessory signs specifically allowed in specified 
districts.  

c. Wind pressure and dead load requirements: Ground, projecting, wall and 
marquee signs shall be designed and constructed to withstand wind pressure 
and shall be constructed to receive dead loads as required in the township 
building code or other ordinances of the township.  

d. Illumination: Internally and externally lighted, reflectorized, glowing and other 
forms of illumination shall be permitted on all signs. All illumination shall be 
concentrated on the area of the sign to prevent glare upon the street or 
adjacent property. No sign shall be illuminated by other than electrical means 
or devices. All illuminated signs must be in compliance with section 2110 and 
shall not be of a flashing or intermittent flashing type.  



 

 

  Page 5 

e. Signs not to constitute a traffic hazard: No sign shall be erected in such a 
manner as to obstruct free and clear vision or constitute a traffic hazard. No 
sign shall interfere with, obstruct the view of, or be confused with any 
authorized traffic sign, signal or device. No sign shall make use of the words 
"stop," "look," "danger" or other word, phrase or symbol in a manner that is 
confusing or misleading. At street intersections, no signs other than municipal 
traffic control signs shall be located within eight feet of the ground surface in 
the triangle formed by the property lines paralleling the streets and extending 
for a distance of 25 feet each way from the intersection of the right-of-way lines 
at the corner lot.  

f. Face of sign shall be smooth: No nails, tacks or wires shall be permitted to 
protrude from the front of any sign. This shall not exclude, however, the use of 
block letters, electrical reflectors, or other devices which may extend over the 
top and in front of the advertising structure.  

g. Obscene matter prohibited: It shall be unlawful for any person to display upon 
any sign or other advertising structure any obscene matter.  

h. Public right-of-way: No sign shall be erected or placed within the public right-
of-way. The owner of any sign which has been removed by the township from 
the right-of-way due it is in violation of this provision, shall pay to the township 
the sum of $25.00 before recovering the sign. If any sign is not claimed within 
14 days, said sign shall be disposed of.  

i. Sign setbacks: All permitted ground and-temporary signs shall be set back not 
less than 15 feet from all property lines and existing street right-of-way lines 
unless otherwise specified herein.  

j. Glass in signs: Glass sheets used in any sign for which a permit is required, 
and in which wire mesh is not imbedded, shall not be less than three-sixteenth 
inch thick and shall not exceed 100 square inches in area for any one piece. 
Provided, however, that pieces of glass not less than one-eighth inch thick, 
covered with metal except for area cut in form letter, numerals, or figures may 
be used, but the area of such piece of glass shall not exceed 340 square 
inches. Glass in sheets shall not exceed 720 square inches in area.  

_____ 

3. Permitted accessory signs by use or type of sign:  
a. Residential uses:  

Sign Type/ 
Purpose 

Ground  
Entrance 

Wall  
Name 
Plate 

       

Sign permit  
required Yes No        

Maximum 
number of 

signs 
Footnote 1 1        

Maximum 
sign face 
area (sq. 

ft.) 

24 2        

Maximum 
number of 
sign faces 
per sign 

1 1        



 

 

  Page 6 

Maximum 
sign height 6 —        

Setback 
from 

property 
line/right-

of-way 
(feet) 

10  —        

Setback 
from 

structures 
(feet) 

50 —        

May be 
illuminated

? (sec. 
2110)  

No No        

Maximum 
length of 
time for 
display  
(days) 

— —        

 Footnotes:  

(1)  One sign per entrance from a collector road or thoroughfare.  

(2)  One ground-mounted sign per side of lot with frontage on a public street and 
one building-mounted sign per side of building with a public entrance.  

b. Non-residential building-mounted signs:  

Sign Type Wall Canopy Marquee Window 

Sign permit required Yes Yes Yes No 

Maximum sign face area (sq. ft.) Footnote(s) 1, 
5 

Footnote 
1 

Footnote 
1 

Footnote 
4 

Maximum number of sign faces per 
sign 1 — 3 2 

Maximum sign height Footnote 2 Footnote 
2 

Footnote 
3 — 

Minimum height above ground (feet) — 7 9 — 

Setback from property line/right-of-
way (feet) — 5 5 — 

May be illuminated? (sec. 2110)  Yes Yes Yes No 

  

Footnotes:  



 

 

  Page 7 

(1)  The sign face area of all building-mounted signs shall not exceed ten percent 
of the area of the front face of the building space occupied by the use associated 
with the sign, up to a maximum of 240 square feet. For multiple-tenant non-
residential buildings, written permission from the building owner to install a sign 
shall be supplied to the office of community standards, and a minimum of four 
square feet of available sign face area shall be reserved for each tenant or use, 
up to the maximum permitted by section 2109.3.b.  

(2)  Wall and canopy signs shall not extend higher than the height of the face of 
the building upon which they are located.  

(3)  Marquee signs may extend up to 15 percent above the height of the face of 
the building upon which they are located.  

(4)  Temporary or permanent window signs shall be permitted to be installed on 
the inside of a building in a manner visible from the public way provided that such 
signs or graphics do not exceed two signs per window and further do not cover 
more than 20 percent of the window surface area. Window signs shall be limited 
to the company name and or logo occupying the given space. Signage shall not 
include the advertisement of products, services or other non-company affiliated 
graphics. Hours of operation and street numbers are exempt from this 
requirement.  

(5)  One illuminated time and temperature sign, not exceeding 24 square feet in 
area, may be included as part of a sign, subject to the requirements of section 
2110.  

c. Non-residential ground signs:  

Maximum 
height 
(feet) 

Minimum  
setback  
required  

(feet) 

Maximum 
sign face 
area (sq. 

ft.)  
footnotes 

(2), (3) 

Maximum  
number 
of signs 

6.0 6.0 24.0 Footnote 
(1) 

6.5 6.5 25.5  

7.0 7.0 27.0  

7.5 7.5 28.5  

8.0 8.0 30.0  

8.5 8.5 31.5  

9.0 9.0 33.0  

9.5 9.5 34.5  

10.0 10.0 36.0  

  

Footnotes:  



 

 

  Page 8 

(1)  Not more than one ground sign may be erected accessory to any 
development parcel or zoning lot, except where otherwise provided for herein. A 
maximum of two ground signs may be permitted if the development parcel or 
zoning lot has a minimum of 500 feet of frontage on a collector road or 
thoroughfare, or a minimum of 700 feet of total frontage on two collector roads or 
thoroughfares, provided that all ground signs related to the use or uses of the 
development parcel or zoning lot are in compliance with this ordinance.  

(2)  The sign face area of one ground sign associated with a non-residential use 
may be increased to 150 percent of the maximum permitted by section 2109.3.c. 
if the sign abuts a collector road or thoroughfare with a road right-of-way width of 
100 feet or more (or one-half right-of-way width of 50 feet or more).  

(3)  The sign face area of one ground sign associated with a development parcel 
or zoning lot that has been improved with a multiple-tenant non-residential 
building containing five or more separate tenants or uses may be increased to 
150 percent of the maximum permitted by section 2109.3.c., provided that written 
permission from the property owner shall be supplied to the office of community 
standards for each tenant or use to install sign copy on this sign, and provided 
that all ground signs related to the use or uses of the development parcel or 
zoning lot are in compliance with this ordinance.  

d. Temporary signs:  

Sign Type/ 
Purpose 

Temporary  
Construction 

Temporary  
Garage 

Sale 

Temporary  
Special  
Event 

Temporary  
Real Estate 

Temporary  
Sale of  

Produce 

Temporary  
Builder  

Directional 

Temporary  
Political 

Sign permit  
required Yes No No No No No No 

Maximum 
number 
of signs 

Footnote 1 Footnote 2 Footnote 
2 1 1 Footnote 5 —- 

Maximum 
sign face 
area (sq. 

ft.) 

24 4 Footnote 
4 4 16 3 16 

Maximum 
number 
of sign 

faces per 
sign 

2 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Maximum 
sign 

height 
6 — — 6 6 3 —- 

Setback 
from 

property 
line/right-

of-way 
(feet) 

10  5 5 5 5 5 —- 



 

 

  Page 9 

Setback 
from 

structures 
(feet) 

50 — — — — 25 —- 

May be 
illuminate
d? (sec. 
2110)  

No No No No No No No 

Maximum 
length of 
time for 
display  
(days) 

Footnote 3, 
6 

14 
days/year  

Footnote 3, 
6 

30 
days/year  
Footnote 

3, 6 

Footnote 
3, 6 

120 
days/year  

Footnote 3, 
6 

Footnote 3, 
6 —- 

 

Footnotes:  

(1)  One sign per entrance from a collector road or thoroughfare.  

(2)  One sign per side of lot with frontage on a public street and one sign per side 
of building with a public entrance.  

(3)  A removal agreement or security bond to guarantee removal of the sign may 
be required. The sign must be removed within three days after completion of the 
activity for which it was erected.  

(4)  Up to ten percent of the area of the front face of the building space occupied 
by the use associated with the sign.  

(5)  Temporary signs, if located on a building, shall not extend higher than the 
height of the front face of the building.  

(6)  Temporary signs shall be located so as to provide adequate traffic circulation 
and emergency vehicle access, and shall not reduce the number of off-street 
parking spaces by more than ten percent.  

_____ 

4. Nonaccessory signs:  
a. Not adjacent to Interstate 94 (I-94).  

(1) Area and height limitations: No billboard may be erected or maintained of a 
greater surface area than 300 square feet per sign face or of a greater overall 
height above ground than 35 feet or the bottom surface of which extends to 
within less than three feet above the ground surface.  

(2) Location: Billboards may be erected only in I-2, I-3, I-C districts. No billboard 
may be erected within 500 feet of any residential use or district, hospital, 
public park, recreation ground, public reservation, bridge, school, library or 
church, nor within 50 feet of street right-of-way lines at any street intersection 
and shall have a minimum setback of 25 feet from all property lines or shall 
meet the setback requirements of the district, whichever is greater. Billboards 
shall be located no closer to one another than 1,000 feet.  

  (3) Material required: All billboards shall have a surface or facing of 
noncombustible material. No wood products or other combustible materials 
shall be permitted to support such signs.  



 

 

  Page 10 

(4) Limitations: No billboard shall be approved at any time when there are 20 or 
more billboard sign faces in the township except for that a new billboard 
structure may be granted approval only in exchange for the removal of four 
nonconforming billboard faces.  

b. Adjacent to Interstate 94 (I-94).  
(1) Area and height limitations: No billboard may be erected or maintained of a 

greater surface area than 672 square-feet per sign face or of greater overall 
height above ground than 50 feet or the bottom surface of which extends to 
within less than three feet above the ground surface.  

(2) Location: Billboards may be erected only in I-1, I-2, I-3 or I-C zoning districts. 
No billboard may be erected within 500 feet of any residential use or district, 
hospital, public park, recreation ground, public reservation, bridge, school, 
library or church and shall have a minimum setback of 25-feet from all 
property lines or shall meet the setback requirements of the district for which 
it is located, whichever is greater. Billboards shall be located no closer to one 
another than 1,000-feet on the same side of the given thoroughfare.  

(3) Material required: All billboards shall have a surface of facing of 
noncombustible material. No wood products or other combustible materials 
shall be permitted to support such signs.  

(4) Limitations: No billboard shall be approved at any time when there are 20 or 
more billboard sign faces in the township except for that a new billboard 
structure may be granted approval only in exchange for the removal of four 
nonconforming billboard faces.  

5. Electronic changeable message signs and billboards:  
a. Such signs shall contain static messages only and shall not have movement or 

flashing on any part of the sign structure, design or pictorial segments of the sign, 
nor shall such sign have varying light intensity during display of any single 
message.  

b. Each display on an electronic changeable sign shall remain fixed for a minimum 
of ten seconds.  

c. When a message on an electronic changeable sign is changed, said change shall 
be accomplished immediately. No fading of the copy shall be permitted.  

d. No auditory message or mechanical sounds may be emitted from the sign. 
e. Electronic changeable message signs may not operate at brightness levels of 

more than 0.30 foot candles above ambient light level as measured at the 
following distances:  

Sign Square Feet Distance (feet) 

<300 150 

301-378 200  

379-672 250 

>672 350 

  

f. The owner of said electronic changeable message sign shall arrange for an 
annual certification of the foot candles showing compliance by a certified 
independent contractor and supply said certification to the Ypsilanti Township 
Office of Community Standards.  



 

 

  Page 11 

g. Each sign shall have a light sensing device that will adjust to the brightness of 
the display as the natural ambient light conditions change.  

h. All electronic changeable message signs shall conform to all Michigan 
Department of Transportation rules and regulations.  

6. Prohibited signs: The following signs are prohibited within the township:  
a. It shall be unlawful for any person to display upon any sign or other advertising 

structure any obscene material.  
b. Portable signs, swinging signs or any signs which incorporate flashing or moving 

lights or animation.  
c. String lights used in connection with business premises for commercial purposes 

other than holiday decorations.  
d. Any sign unlawfully installed, erected or maintained. 
e. Signs on trees, utility poles or benches, whether located on public or private 

property. 
f. Signs mounted on the roof of a building or extending above the height of the front 

face of the building upon which it is mounted, except where otherwise permitted 
herein.  

g. Posting prohibited: No person shall post any placard, poster or other advertising 
matter on any post, tree or other object within any street area or upon any public 
property, except legal notices which shall be posted on boards established at 
three places designated by the township. No person, except an officer of the 
township, shall post any notice on such boards or remove or mutilate any notice 
posted thereon.  

7. Permits and fees: It shall be unlawful for any person to erect, repair, alter or relocate 
a sign, repair a nonconforming sign damaged by winds, vandalism, fire or an act of 
God unless the appropriate permits have first been obtained from the building official 
and the required permit fees have been paid to the township according to the 
schedule established by resolution of the township board.  
a. Signs for which a permit is not required:  

(1) Repairs to an existing sign: Repair of a sign damaged by winds, vandalism, 
fire or an act of God provided that the sign is in conformance with the current 
zoning ordinance standards, that the sign is restored to its original design 
and that all work is in compliance with necessary structural and electrical 
codes.  

(2) Service on an existing sign: Painting, servicing or cleaning of existing signs 
shall not require a sign permit unless a structural change or any change to 
the sign box or enclosure is made.  

(3) Nameplates, not exceeding two square feet in area. 
(4) Memorial signs or tablets, building names and dates of construction when cut 

into any masonry surface or when constructed of bronze or aluminum.  
(5) Traffic or other municipal signs, legal notices, danger and such temporary 

emergency or non-advertising signs as may be approved by the township.  
(6) Gasoline price signs not exceeding six square feet on pump islands. 
(7) Political campaign signs in conformance with section 2109.3. 
(8) Directional signs: Signs regulating on-site traffic and parking of not more than 

four square feet in area. One such sign for each public entrance from a 
collector or arterial street up to a maximum of two such signs per zoning lot 
or development parcel.  

(9) Posting of no more than one "Private Property" or similar notice per side of a 
residential zoning lot with frontage on a public street, provided that the lot is 
greater than one acre in size. Such signs shall be no more than 1.5 square 
feet in area and located a minimum of five feet from any lot line or right-of-
way line.  



 

 

  Page 12 

(10) Flags bearing the official design of a nation, state, municipality, educational 
institution or organization as approved by the building official.  

(11) Barber poles when a minimum of seven feet above the pedestrian right-of-
way. 

(12) Non-illuminated window signs on the inside of windows in non-residential 
districts that do not obstruct vision by more than 20 percent.  

(13) Menu boards at drive-through restaurants with a maximum size of 60 square 
feet. 

b. Permits required:  
(1) Sign permit: see section 2109.3.a—d.  
(2) Building permit: Required for all permanent building-mounted and ground 

signs, except such signs that are painted on an existing wall.  
(3) Electrical permit: Required for all illuminated signs or signs in which electrical 

wiring will be used in connection with the structure.  
c. Sign permit application: Applications for permits shall be made upon forms 

provided by the building official and shall contain or have attached thereto the 
following information:  
(1) Name, address and telephone number of the applicant. 
(2) Sketch plan: Three copies of a sketch plan in compliance with section 2115 

that includes the lot survey, easements and setback dimensions, location of 
all buildings, other structures and all proposed and existing signs on the 
development parcel or zoning lot where such signs are to be erected. 
Elevation drawings of all buildings on the site shall be provided showing the 
location of all existing and proposed building-mounted signs.  

(3) Construction drawings: Three blueprints or drawings of the plans, 
specifications, methods of construction and installation, materials list and 
method and type of illumination for each sign. All construction drawings or 
attachment details shall be signed and sealed by a licensed design 
professional.  

(4) A photometric grid that is in conformance with section 2110 must be overlaid 
on the sketch plan showing the location of each proposed sign and the overall 
light intensity (in foot-candles) from all existing and proposed sources of 
illumination throughout the area affected by the proposed sign.  

(5) Copy of stress sheets and calculations showing the structure is designed for 
dead load and wind pressure in any direction in the amount required by this 
and all other laws and ordinances of the township. Provided, further, that 
where the building official deems it advisable, he may require the approval of 
the structural design by a registered architect or engineer.  

(6) Name of person, firm, corporation or association erecting the sign or sign 
structures. 

(7) Written and notarized consent of the owner where the sign is to be erected 
on vacant land.  

(8) Insurance policy or bond as required by section 2109.8. 
(9) Removal agreement: The township may require a signed removal agreement 

satisfactory to the township attorney for the removal of certain signs as 
applicable. A bond or other acceptable surety to guarantee such removal may 
also be required.  

(10) Other information that the building official may require to show full compliance 
with this and all other township ordinances.  

d. Sign permit issued if application in order: It shall be the duty of the building official, 
upon the filing of a complete application for a sign permit, to examine the plans 
and specifications and other data. If the proposed structure is in compliance with 



 

 

  Page 13 

all requirements of the zoning ordinance and applicable building and electrical 
codes, the appropriate permits shall be issued within thirty (30) days.  

e. Sign permit revocability: All work associated with a sign permit shall be completed 
within six months after date of issuance. Such rights and privileges accrued under 
the provision of this ordinance are mere licenses and may be immediately 
revoked upon the violation of any of the conditions contained herein.  

8. Insurance: Every person, before engaging or continuing in the business of erecting, 
servicing, repairing or dismantling signs in Ypsilanti Township, shall first furnish the 
township a public liability insurance policy in an amount of no less than one (1) million 
dollars in a form that is satisfactory to the township attorney. This policy must 
indemnify the Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its prior, present and future officials, 
representatives and employees from all damage suits or actions of every nature 
brought or claimed against the erector for or on account of injuries or damages to 
persons or property received or sustained by any person or persons through any act 
of omission or negligence of said erector, his servants, agents or employees in the 
erection, repair, service or dismantling of any sign. Said policy shall contain a clause 
whereby it cannot be canceled or changed until after a written notice of intention to 
cancel has been filed with the township clerk and building official at least 30 days 
prior to the date of cancellation.  

9. Legal nonconforming signs: Non-conforming signs are those signs lawfully erected 
prior to the adoption of this Ordinance. All existing legal nonconforming signs shall be 
permitted to continue as such until removed or until changes other than painting or 
servicing are made, at which time they shall conform to the provisions of this 
ordinance. The zoning official may permit a reduction of the minimum required 
setback for ground signs from property lines and street rights-of-way to allow changes 
to an existing legal nonconforming ground sign, subject to the following:  
a. The sign is located outside of any street right-of-way. 
b. The sign is in compliance with section 2109.2 (general requirements for all signs). 
c. The sign is in compliance with section 2109.3 maximum height and sign face area 

standards. 
10. Class A nonconforming sign designation: Class A nonconforming signs shall be 

considered to be conforming signs for purposes of repair, service or the changing of 
sign copy in a manner that does not require structural changes or any change to the 
sign box or enclosure. The planning commission may grant a Class A nonconforming 
sign designation in those instances where a determination is made after public 
hearing that the continuance of a nonconforming sign meets both the criteria found 
in section 2102.3 and the following:  
a. The granting of a continuance of the nonconforming sign will not create unfair 

advertising advantage over other properties in conformance with the sign 
provisions of this article.  

b. A nonconforming use shall not be permitted to add additional signs to the building 
or premises. Existing signs accessory to nonconforming uses may be maintained.  

11. Enforcement: It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, 
construct, enlarge, alter, or move any sign or structure in the township, or cause or 
permit the same to be done in violation of any of the provisions of this article. Any 
sign unlawfully erected or altered may be removed by the township at the expense of 
the sign owner. The township shall then place a lien on the property, adding 
necessary removal expenses to the tax bill for the property.  

12. Removal of abandoned, damaged, illegal or unsafe signs:  
a. Abandoned signs:  

(1) Any sign located on property in the Township that has been vacant for more 
than one hundred and twenty (120) days, and any sign that pertains to a use 
or activity that no longer exists on property in the Township, shall be 
presumed to have been abandoned 

(2) At such time as the Building Official shall become aware of the sign that is 
presumed to have been abandoned under subsection (1) of this section, a 



 

 

  Page 14 

notice of sign abandonment declaring that the sign is deemed abandoned, 
and directing the removal of the sign, shall be sent to the owner of the 
property. 

(3) If the owner of the property to whom such a notice has been sent claims that 
the sign has not been abandoned, such owner shall, within sixty (60) days 
from the date of the notice, file a written response to the Building Official 
stating facts which rebut the presumption of abandonment and demonstrate 
the intent not to abandon the sign. 

(4) At the end of such sixty (60) day period, if a written response stating facts to 
rebut the presumption of abandonment has not been submitted to the 
Building Official, the sign shall be deemed abandoned, and a notice to such 
effect shall be sent to the owner. 

(5) If a written response stating facts to rebut the presumption of abandonment 
has been submitted to the Building Official, and if the response demonstrates 
in the discretion of the Building Official that the sign has not been abandoned, 
the sign shall be permitted to remain until further evidence of abandonment 
appears, or some other basis for removal arises. If the Building Official 
determines that the response fails to demonstrate that the sign has not been 
abandoned, the notice of sign abandonment, and the response from the 
owner, shall be placed upon the agenda of a meeting of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals, and notice of the time, place and date of the meeting shall be sent 
to the owner. After a review of the notice and response, and after affording 
an opportunity to be heard by the owner and the director, together with any 
and all other information and argument deemed appropriate by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall make a final 
determination with respect to whether the sign has been abandoned. 

(6) Any sign deemed abandoned under subsection (4), or found by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals to be abandoned under subsection (5) shall be removed 
within ten (10) days of such determination, and a failure to do so shall 
constitute a violation of this section. 

The building official may remove such signs or sign copy at the expense of the 
sign owner after said owner has been ordered in writing to remove said sign by 
the building official and has not done so within 30 days. The township shall then 
place a lien on the property, adding necessary removal expenses to the tax bill 
for the property.  

b. Damaged signs: Damaged signs shall be repaired, replaced or removed within 
ten days of the damage by the owner, agent or person having the beneficial use 
of the building or structure upon which said sign shall be found. Such signs may 
be removed by the building official at the expense of the sign owner after said 
owner has been ordered in writing to remove said sign by the building official and 
has not done so within ten days. The township shall then place a lien on the 
property, adding necessary removal expenses to the tax bill for the property.  

c. Illegal signs: Illegal signs may be removed by the building official at the expense 
of the sign owner after said owner has been ordered in writing to remove said 
sign by the building official and has not done so within 30 days. The township 
shall then place a lien on the property, adding necessary removal expenses to 
the tax bill for the property.  

d. Unsafe signs: Unsafe signs shall be immediately removed or made to conform to 
the provisions of this article by the owner, agent or person having the beneficial 
use of the building or structure upon which said sign shall be found. If such action 
is not taken within 24 hours, the unsafe signs may be removed by the building 
official at the expense of the sign owner. The township shall then place a lien on 
the property, adding necessary removal expenses to the tax bill for the property.  

13. Sign maintenance: The building official may order the removal of any sign that is not 
maintained in accordance with the provisions of this article. Such signs may be 
removed by the building official at the expense of the sign owner after said owner has 
been ordered in writing to remove said sign by the building official and has not done 



 

 

  Page 15 

so within 30 days. The township shall then place a lien on the property, adding 
necessary removal expenses to the tax bill for the property.  
a. Maintenance: All signs for which a permit is required, together with all their 

supports, braces, guys and anchors, shall be maintained in good working order; 
and when not galvanized or constructed of approved corrosion-resistant, 
noncombustible materials, shall be painted when necessary to prevent corrosion. 
The exteriors of all signs, supporting members, painted surfaces, advertising 
materials and lettering shall be kept painted and in good repair, so as to present 
a neat and orderly appearance. All bulbs or component parts of the sign, including 
the electrical switches, boxes and wiring used in the illumination of the sign must 
be well maintained and in good repair.  

b. Housekeeping: It shall be the duty and responsibility of the owner or lessee of 
every sign to maintain the immediate premises occupied by the sign in a clean, 
sanitary and healthful condition.  
Severability 

In the event that any one or more sections, provisions, phrases or words of this 
ordinance shall be found to be invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, such holding 
shall not affect the validity nor the enforceability of the remaining sections, provisions, 
phrases or words of this Ordinance unless expressly so determined by a Court of 
competent jurisdiction.  

Publication 

This ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation as required 
by law. 

Effective Date 

This ordinance shall become effective upon publication in a newspaper of general 
circulation as required by law.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 

Michigan hereby certify adoption of Ordinance No. 2017-472 by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board 

of Trustees assembled at a Regular Meeting held on March 21, 2017 after first being introduced at a 

Regular Meeting held on March 7, 2017. The motion to approve was made by member Roe and 

seconded by member Wilson YES:  Stumbo, Roe, Doe, Eldridge, Ross Williams, Wilson  ABSENT:  Jarrell 

Roe  NO: None  ABSTAIN:  None.  

 

 

___________________________________ 

     Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

Published:  Monday, March 27, 2017 



RESOLUTION  NO. 2017-05 
 (In Reference to Ordinance 2017-473) 

Amending the Township Zoning Code, Section 401 to permit raising up to four (4) 
hens on residential parcels with one acre or more.  

Whereas, the Township has seen an increased interest in raising 

chickens in residential backyards for the benefit of consuming fresh home grown 

eggs;  

Whereas, the Ypsilanti Township Zoning Code Section 401 currently 

allows chickens to be raised on parcels of at least five (5) acres; 

Whereas, the Township Board desires to allow up to four (4) hens to be 

raised on parcels with a minimum of one acre provided certain standards 

regarding the construction and location of enclosures; the disposal of waste 

material associated with raising chickens; and 

Whereas, Ordinance 2017-473 sets standards for the location, size, 

construction and maintenance of up to four (4) hens;  

Whereas, allowing a maximum of four (4) hens to be raised on parcels 

with one acre or more will improve the health and quality of life of Township 

residents;  

 Now, Therefore, 

Be it resolved, that Ordinance No. 2017-473 is hereby adopted by 

reference.  

I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2017-05 
approved by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular 
Meeting held on March 21, 2017. 

     ___________________________________ 
    Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

    Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti



 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-473 
 

An Ordinance amending the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Code  
Ordinance No. 74, Section 401, describing principal uses permitted in R-1 

through R-4 One Family residential districts:  
 

 The Charter Township of Ypsilanti hereby ordains that Section 401, of the 

Ypsilanti Township Zoning Code, adopted May 18, 1994, shall be amended as 

follows:  

 I. Delete in its entirety Section 401 entitled Principal Uses 

II. Add the following new section 401 entitled Principal Uses 
Permitted 

Sec. 401. - Principal uses permitted:  
In a one-family residential district, no building or land shall be used and no 

building shall be erected except for one or more of the following specified uses 
unless otherwise provided in this ordinance:  

1. One-family detached dwellings. 
2. Farms on those parcels of land separately owned outside the boundaries 

of either a proprietary or supervisor's plat, having an area of not less than 
five acres, all subject to the health and sanitation provisions of the 
Township of Ypsilanti and provided further that no farms shall be operated 
as piggeries, or for the disposal of garbage, sewage, rubbish, offal or 
rendering plants, or for the slaughtering of animals except such animals 
as have been raised on the premises or have been maintained on the 
premises for at least a period of one year immediately prior thereto and for 
the use and consumption by persons residing on the premises.  

3. Publicly owned and operated libraries, parks, parkways and recreational 
facilities. 

4. Public, parochial and other private elementary schools offering courses in 
general education, and not operated for profit.  

5. Family day care homes for up to six children, to be registered by the state 
department of social services.  

6. Home occupation subject to the following: 
a. No home occupation shall be permitted that: 

(1) Changes the outside appearance of the dwelling or is visible from 
the street. 

(2) Generates traffic, parking, sewerage or water use in excess of 
what is normal in the residential neighborhood.  

(3) Creates noise, vibration, glare, fumes, odors or results in electrical 
interference, or becomes a nuisance.  

(4) Results in outside storage or display of anything including a sign. 
(5) Requires the employment of anyone in the home other than one 

dwelling occupant. 
(6) Requires exterior building alterations to accommodate the 

occupation. 
(7) Occupies more than 20 percent of the ground floor area of the 

dwelling, or 50 percent of a detached garage.  



 2 

(8) Requires parking for customers or visits for business purposes 
that cannot be accommodated on the site and/or not exceeding 
one parking space at curb side on the street.  

(9) Requires the delivery of goods or the visit of customers before 
6:00 a.m. and after 8:00 p.m.  

(10) Would generate 20 or more customers or visits for business 
purposes by persons per week.  

b. The following are permitted home occupations provided they do not 
violate any of the provisions of the previous paragraph:  
(1) Dressmaking, sewing and tailoring. 
(2) Painting, sculpturing or writing. 
(3) Telephone answering. 
(4) Home crafts, such as model making, rug weaving and lapidary 

work. 
(5) Tutoring, limited to four students at a time. 
(6) Computer application not including sale of computers. 
(7) Salesperson's office or home office of a professional person. 
(8) Laundering and ironing. 
(9) Repair of clocks, instruments or other small appliances which do 

not create a nuisance due to noise, vibration, glare, fumes, odors 
or result in electrical interference.  

(10) Barbershops and beauty parlors; limited to one operator. 
(11) Dance studios; limited to four students at a time. 

c. The following are prohibited as home occupations: 
(1) Private clubs. 
(2) Repair shops which may create a nuisance due to noise, vibration, 

glare, fumes, odors or electrical interference.  
(3) Restaurants. 
(4) Stables or kennels. 
(5) Tourist homes. 
(6) Automobile repair or paint shops. 
(7) Medical marihuana dispensaries. 
(8) Medical marihuana nurseries. 

d. Any proposed home occupation that is neither specifically permitted 
by paragraph b. nor specifically prohibited by paragraph c. shall be 
considered a special use and be granted or denied upon consideration 
of those standards contained in paragraph a. above and under the 
procedures specified in sec. 402.  

e. Home occupation permits shall be limited to the applicant who legally 
resides in the residence.  

f. Home occupation shall be based on a permit for such home 
occupation. 

7.   The keeping of up to 4 hens on those parcels of land separately owned outside 
the boundaries of either a proprietary, supervisor's plat or site condominium 
and having an area of not less than one acre; subject to the health and 
sanitation provisions of the Township of Ypsilanti subject to the following: 

a. The principle use of the property where the hens are to be kept is as 
a single-family dwelling as defined by the Township Zoning Ordinance 

b. Hens may only be kept by a person permanently residing at the 
subject residence. 



 3 

c. The keeping of roosters shall be prohibited 
d. Chickens shall be provided with a secure, well-ventilated, roofed, and 

lockable structure (heretofore referred to as a “hen house”) which shall 
not exceed 25 square feet in area. 

e. A covered enclosure or fenced enclosure, constructed in a 
workmanlike manner, shall be erected around the hen house to 
prevent the hens from leaving the enclosed area. 

f. No enclosure shall be located closer than twenty (20) feet from a 
property line nor shall it be located closer than forty (40) feet to any 
adjacent residential structure.   

g. Both the hen house and the fenced pen, run, or enclosure must be 
located in the rear yard 

h. All enclosures for the keeping of chickens shall be constructed or 
repaired to prevent rats, mice or other rodents from being harbored 
underneath, within, or within the walls of the enclosure. 
 

i. All food shall be stored indoor and within a rodent-proof container. 
 

j. The slaughtering of hens shall be prohibited. 
k. Waste materials (feed, manure and litter) should be disposed of in an 

environmentally responsible manner.  The materials can be 
composted or bagged and disposed of in the trash.  It is not acceptable 
to pile waste materials on the property. 

8. Accessory buildings and uses customarily incident to any of the above 
permitted uses. 

 
Severability Clause 
 
The various parts, sentences, paragraphs, and clauses of this ordinance are 
severable.  If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or clause is adjudged 
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of 
the ordinance shall not be affected.  
 
Publication 
 
This Ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation as 
required by law. 

 
Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall be effective upon publication in a newspaper of general 
circulation as required by law. 
 
 
 
 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify adoption of Ordinance No. 2017-473 by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular Meeting held on March 21, 2017 after first being 
introduced at a Regular Meeting held on March 7, 2017. The motion to approve was made by 
member Roe and seconded by Ross Williams YES:  Stumbo, Roe, Doe, Eldridge, Ross Williams, 
Wilson ABSENT:  Jarrell Roe, NO: None.  ABSTAIN:  None.  
 

 
___________________________________ 

     Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

Published:  Monday, March 27, 2017 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI
 2016 BUDGET AMENDMENT #5

March 21, 2017

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $10,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $10,000.00

Net Revenues $10,000.00

Expenditures: Capitol Outlay-Neighborhood Cameras 101-970-000-972.000 $10,000.00

Net Expenditures $10,000.00

397 - DEBT FUND SERIES B BOND (SEAVER PROPERTY BONDS) Total Increase $332,951.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 397-000-000-699.000 $332,951.00

Net Revenues $332,951.00

Expenditures: Debt Repayment - Bonds -Seaver 397-991-000-020.000 $332,951.00

Net Expenditures $332,951.00

Request to increase budget to purchase and install cameras for a proposed special assessment district for Huron 
Heights and Huron Ridge Apartments.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance. 

Request to increase the debt repayment line in order to make an additional pay down of the series B bond .  The 
Board discussed and gave direction to use the $332,951 (net proceeds) from the perpetual easement agreement 
with SBA Network Service, LLC for the cell tower located at 1865 Cadillac to pay down bond debt at the September 
20, 2016 Board meeting  .  The funds were deposited into the Debt Fund Series B Bond Fund on December 16, 
2016.  The funds are currently part of the fund balance for 2017. This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior 
Year Fund Balance. 

1 of 1



Motion to Amend the 2017 Budget (#5): 
 
 Move to increase the General Fund Budget by $10,000 to $8,570,635 and approve the 
department line item changes as outlined. 
 
 

Move to increase the Debt Fund Series B Bond budget by $332,951 to $839,951 and 
approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

Resolution 2017-07  
 

OPPOSING ELIMINATION AND REDUCTION OF U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 
HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS WHICH ARE VITAL TO 

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI  RESIDENTS AND ALL 
WASHTENAW COUNTY RESIDENTS 

  
  

WHEREAS, On March 8, 2017 the Washington Post reported on 
proposed budget cuts to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD); and  
 

WHEREAS, among other significant cuts, the proposed HUD budget:  
 Cuts funding for public housing repairs by $1.3 billion or 68%. 
 Cuts funding for Housing Choice Vouchers by $300 million, not 

including the additional resources that would be needed to cover 
inflationary costs. This is equal to 200,000 vouchers being lost. 

 Cuts funding that would result in about 12,000 homes for seniors and 
6,000 homes for people with disabilities being lost. 

 Eliminates Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). 
 Eliminates HOME Investment Partnership Program. 

 
WHEREAS, The HUD Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and 

HUD HOME Investment Partnership (HOME) programs are operated in 
Washtenaw County by the Washtenaw County Office of Community and 
Economic Development, and together with other federal funding support have 
provided Habitat for Humanity (Ypsilanti Township) and the Charter Township of 
Ypsilanti combined funds of $6,000,000 from 2009 to 2017; and  

 
Whereas, the HUD Home, CDBG and other federal funding support of 

$6,000,000 from 2009 to 2017 has been leveraged to generate an additional 
$30,910,887 of private funds and 49,500 home volunteer hours to provide 
programming, health and human services, weatherization, home ownership and 
home repair; and  
 

WHEREAS, Ypsilanti Township in partnership with Habitat for Humanity 
utilizes CDBG and HOME funding to stabilize neighborhoods that were 
devastated with the Financial and Home Crisis beginning in 2008 losing over 1/3 
of their taxable value; and 
 

WHEREAS, in Ypsilanti Township the number of  abandoned houses, left 
by the Mortgage Companies and Banks that walked away, would have increased 
to the point of no return and remain in dire conditions and create unsafe buildings 
for crime to occur without the HUD HOME/CDBG funds that were leveraged with 
Habitat for Humanity and rehabilitated; and 
 

WHEREAS, many Ypsilanti Township neighborhoods have been 
stabilized and home values are beginning to increase due in large measure 
because of the HUD HOME/CDBG funds leveraged to bring private investment 
into the Township; and  
 

WHEREAS, the HUD HOME/CDBG funds have enabled many Ypsilanti 
Township residents to now own a home and pay taxes of over $1,000,000 
between 2009-2017, that would never have occurred without the HUD funding; 
and  
 

 
 
 
 



WHEREAS, CDBG funds have been utilized in Ypsilanti Township to 
provide infrastructure maintenance and improvements that would not have 
occurred without the HUD funding because Ypsilanti Township lost over 1/3 of 
the taxable value beginning in 2008 and struggled to maintain police and fire 
services and desperately needs the continued HUD funding to maintain roads, 
park equipment, senior citizens and community recreation facilities; and 
 
        WHEREAS, For FY 2017 alone Washtenaw County received nearly 
$3,000,000 in CDBG, HOME and Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) funding; 
and  

  
WHEREAS, CDBG, HOME and ESG programs provide critical community 

infrastructure, neighborhood stabilization, human services, homelessness 
prevention, and affordable housing resources for Washtenaw County residents; 
and their elimination would have disastrous impacts on quality of life for our 
neighborhoods and residents; and  
 

WHEREAS, Public housing and Housing Choice Voucher programs are 
operated locally by the Ann Arbor Housing Commission (AAHC); and 
 

WHEREAS, The AAHC provides vouchers to over 2000 families in 
Washtenaw County and rent subsidies to an additional 500 homeless 
households – including veterans – that would be at risk as a result of these cuts; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, cuts in HUD HOME/CDBG funding to Ypsilanti Township will 
result in a loss of property taxes gained through rehabilitated homes, an increase 
in abandoned homes and an increase in deteriorating houses and increased 
crime; and 
 
          WHEREAS, These reductions in funding will hurt local businesses, 
destabilize neighborhoods and limit access to critical human services for 
residents in need; 
 
           NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Charter Township of 
Ypsilanti calls on the Washtenaw County delegation to the United States Senate 
and United States House of Representatives to actively oppose this HUD budget 
unless funding for these vital programs is protected; and  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Copies of this resolution shall be provided 
to U.S. Senators Debbie Stabenow and Gary Peters, U.S. Representatives 
Debbie Dingell and Tim Walberg, and Governor Rick Snyder.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2017-07 
approved by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular 
Meeting held on March 21, 2017. 
                                    
                                                                                    ___________________________________ 
                                                                                                                Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

                                                                                            Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 
 
 



RENEWABLE ENERGY CREDITS (“RECs”) PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) 

Buyer:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Address:   
7200 South Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Buyer Contact : Contact Name:  
Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 

Contact Telephone Number: 734-481-0617 
Contact Fax Number: 734-484-0002 
Contact E-mail:  

Seller: Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Ford Lake Hydroelectric Station 

Address: 
 7200 S. Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197               

Seller Contact: Contact Name:  
Michael Saranen, Operator 
Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 

Contact Telephone Number: 734-544-3690 
Contact Fax Number: 734-544-3626 
Contact E-mail:  

Transaction Date: 

Product: Michigan RECs/IRECs 

Vintage:  May 2015 to March 2016 

Quantity: 1296 

Purchase Price: Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, the RECs for the purchase price set forth below.  

$0.00 per REC for each delivered REC 

Transfer of RECs: Seller shall transfer to Buyer via MiREC; 1,296 RECs/IRECs on or before April 14, 2017. 

Payment: Seller shall invoice Buyer for payment not later than three (3) business days after transfer of RECs to Buyer.  Payment 
by Buyer to Seller shall be due five (5) business days after transfer of RECs.  All funds to be paid to Seller shall be 
rendered in the form of immediately available funds (U.S. Dollars) by check or in such other form as agreed to by 
the parties.  If either party fails to remit any amount payable by it when due, interest on such unpaid portion shall 
accrue at a rate equal to the prime interest rate in effect at the time as published by in The Wall Street Journal plus 
two percent (2%) from the date payment is due to the date of payment. 

Seller’s Payment Instructions: 

Make check payable to: 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

General Terms 
and Conditions: 

Representations and Warranties of Seller.  Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that (i) each REC meets the 
specifications set forth in this Agreement; (ii) Seller has good and marketable title to the RECs; (iii) all right, title and 
interest in and to the RECs are free and clear of any liens, taxes, claims, security interests, or other encumbrances; 
and (iv) Seller has not made any claims that the energy associated with the RECs is renewable energy.  SELLER 
EXPRESSLY NEGATES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, WRITTEN OR ORAL, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO MERCHANTABILITY, 
OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 



 
Event of Default.  For purposes of this Agreement, a party shall be in default (each of the following, an “Event of Default”):   
(i) if that party fails to make, when due, any payment required pursuant to this Agreement if such failure is not remedied 
within three (3) business days of written notice from the other party; (ii) if that party materially breaches any or all of its 
obligations under this Agreement and such breach is not cured within seven (7) business days of written notice of such 
breach from the other party; (iii) if any representation or warranty made by a party pursuant to this Agreement proves to 
have been misleading or false in any material respect when made and such party does not cure the underlying facts so as 
to make such representation and warranty correct and not misleading within seven (7) business days of written notice 
from the other party; or (iv) if a Party makes an assignment or any general arrangement for the benefit of its creditors; 
files a petition or otherwise commences, authorizes or acquiesces in the commencement of a proceeding or cause under 
any bankruptcy or similar law for the protection of creditors; has a petition filed against it, and such petition is not 
dismissed within sixty (60); or otherwise becomes bankrupt or insolvent (however evidenced). 

Remedies upon Default.  If either Party is in default, the non-defaulting party may select any or all of the following 
remedies: (i) upon two (2) business days’ written notice to the defaulting party, terminate this Agreement, (ii) withhold 
any payments and deliveries due in respect of this Agreement, and (iii) exercise such other remedies available at law or in 
equity. 

If Buyer is in default and Seller elects to terminate this Agreement, then Buyer shall pay Seller, within ten (10) business 
days of invoice receipt, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the contract price multiplied by the contract quantity for any 
RECs delivered to Buyer for which Seller has not been paid, and (ii) the positive difference, if any, obtained by subtracting 
the market price, as reasonably determined by Seller, for the RECs from the contract price multiplied by the amount of 
RECs not received, plus reasonable third party fees (including broker fees) and legal costs incurred by Seller in enforcement 
and protection of its rights under this Agreement. 

If Seller is in default and Buyer elects to terminate this Agreement, then Seller shall pay Buyer, within ten (10) business 
days of invoice receipt, an amount equal to the positive difference, if any, obtained by subtracting the contract price from 
the market price, as reasonably determined by Buyer, for the RECs multiplied by the amount of RECs not delivered, plus 
reasonable third party fees (including broker fees) and legal costs incurred by Buyer in enforcement and protection of its 
rights under this Agreement.  In no event does the foregoing relieve Buyer of its obligation to pay Seller the contract price 
multiplied by the contract quantity for any RECs delivered to Buyer for which Seller has not been paid. 

Limitations of Liability.  IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, 
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY NATURE WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING LOSS OF 
PROFITS (EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT ANY DIRECT DAMAGES INCLUDE AN ELEMENT OF PROFIT). 

Confidentiality.  The parties agree to keep confidential the contents of this Agreement and any information made available 
by one party to the other party with respect to this Agreement. 

Indemnification.  Each party agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other party, and any of said other party’s 
affiliates, directors, officers, employees, agents and permitted assigns, from and against all claims, losses, incidents, 
liabilities, damages, judgments, awards, fines, penalties, costs, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
disbursements) directly incurred in connection with or directly arising out of: (i) any breach of representation or warranty 
or failure to perform any covenant or agreement in this Agreement;  or (ii) any violation of applicable law, regulation or 
order by said party including any adverse liens, claims or encumbrances on the RECs. 

Notices.  All notices, demands, and other communications hereunder shall be effective only if given in writing and 
shall be deemed given (i) when delivered in person; (ii) when delivered by private courier (with confirmation of 
delivery); (iii) when transmitted by facsimile (with confirmation of transmission); or (iv) five (5) business days after 
being deposited in the United States mail, first-class, registered or certified, return receipt requested, with postage 
paid.  For purposes hereof, all notices, demands and other communications shall be sent to the contacts and 
addresses above (or to such other address furnished in writing by one party to the other party). 

Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns.  Neither party may transfer or assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, without 
the other party’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. 
Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended at any time, but only by a written agreement signed by both parties. 
No Waiver.  No delay or omission by a party in the exercise of any right under this Agreement shall be taken, 
construed, or considered as a waiver or relinquishment thereof.  If any of the terms and conditions herein are 
breached and thereafter waived in writing by a party, such waiver is limited to the particular breach so waived and 
is not deemed to waive any other breach hereunder. 
Severability.  If any provision or portion of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable, the remainder shall be 
enforced as fully as possible and the unenforceable provision shall be deemed modified to the limited extent 
required to permit its enforcement in a manner most closely representing the intention of the Parties as expressed 
herein. 





























 

ATTORNEY REPORT 

 
GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 

 
 



 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI
 2017 BUDGET AMENDMENT #5

April 4, 2017

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $559,307.00

Revenues: Transfer In: Enviro Cleanup 101-000-000-697.007 $355,010.00

Net Revenues $355,010.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Tyler Dam Project 101-970-000-971.100 $355,010.00

Net Expenditures $355,010.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $184,297.00

Net Revenues $184,297.00

Expenditures: Contribution to Golf Course 101-999-000-969.584 $184,297.00

Net Expenditures $184,297.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $20,000.00

Net Revenues $20,000.00

Expenditures: Equipment 101-774-000-977.000 $20,000.00

Net Expenditures $20,000.00

Request to increase budget for a the repair of a 2006 Batwing Mower estimated at $20,000.  This will be funded by 
an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase budget and create a new line to allow for a transfer into the General Fund from the 
Environmental Clean Up Fund for the Tyler Dam Project.  We want to  track the Tyler Dam Project in the General 
Fund because there will be a special assessment district.  The current available funds in  the Environmental Clean 
Up Fund is $354,911.73 plus any interest due for the month of March 2017 - an estimated total amount of 
$355,010.00.  This will close the Environmental Clean Up Fund and transfer funds to the General Fund.

Request to increase budget for a contribution transfer to the Golf Course Fund for installation and improvement of 
golf cart paths and Engineering fees for OHM. We anticipate payment back from the Golf Course as their revenues 
increase.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

1 of 3



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI
 2017 BUDGET AMENDMENT #5

April 4, 2017

212 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, RECREATION, ROADS, & GENERAL FUND Total Increase $126,799.00

Revenues: Prior Year Appropriation 212-000-000-699.000 $106,799.00

Net Revenues $106,799.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Community Center 212-970-000-997.008 $106,799.00

Net Expenditures $106,799.00

Revenues: Prior Year Appropriation 212-000-000-699.000 $20,000.00

Net Revenues $20,000.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Sidewalks 212-970-000-997.002 $20,000.00

Net Expenditures $20,000.00

225 - ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN UP FUND Total Increase $321,794.24

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 225-000-000-699.000 $321,695.97

Net Revenues $321,695.97

Expenditures: Transfer to General Fund 225-225-000-968.002 $355,010.00

Transfer to Hydro Station 225-225-000-968.252 ($33,215.76)
Net Expenditures $321,794.24

Request to increase the budget for replacing a section of the roof and sealing of an outside wall at the Community 
Center.  The lowest bidder is Royal Roofing.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase budget line item "Transfer to the General Fund" and decrease line item "Transfer to Hydro 
Fund". This will close the Environmental Clean Up Fund and transfer all available funds to the General Fund for the 
Tyler Dam Project.   

Request to increase the budget for repair & replacement of Township sidewalks. This will be funded by an 
Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

2 of 3



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI
 2017 BUDGET AMENDMENT #5

April 4, 2017

236 - 14B DISTRICT COURT FUND Total Increase $20,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 236-000-000-699.000 $20,000.00

Net Revenues $20,000.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Security 236-136-000-974.025 $20,000.00

Net Expenditures $20,000.00

584 - GOLF COURSE FUND Total Increase $293,632.00

Revenues: Transfer In from General Fund 584-000-000-697.000 $184,297.00
Prior Year Fund Balance 584-000-000-699.000 $100,000.00

Net Revenues $284,297.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Other 584-584-000-971.000 $284,297.00

Net Expenditures $284,297.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 584-000-000-699.000 $9,335.00

Net Revenues $9,335.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Other 584-584-000-971.000 $9,335.00

Net Expenditures $9,335.00

Request to increase the budget for the purchase of new mower and turbo vacuum and the repair of a mower for 
the grounds.  The budgeted line will need an addition of $9,335 for purchases and repairs.  This will be funded by 
an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase the budget for installation and improvement of the golf cart paths. The lowest bidder is Best 
Asphalt Inc. for the cart paths at $257,837 with an OHM recommended $15,000 contingency for unforeseen issues.  
OHM will be our engineers, responsible for overseeing the project  at $11,460.  We anticipate paying back the 
General Fund as revenues increase. This will be funded by a Contribution from the General Fund and an 
Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase budget line for Architectural Engineer to provide plans for Security in the Court Building.  This 
is an estimate for professional services not to exceed $20,000. This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior 
Year Fund Balance.

3 of 3



Motion to Amend the 2017 Budget (#5): 
 
 

Move to increase the General Fund budget by $559,307 to $9,129,942 and approve the 
department line item changes as outlined. 

 
Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Recreation, Roads, & General (BSRII) Fund budget 

by $126,799 to $1,646,253 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 
 
Move to increase the Environmental Clean Up Fund budget by $321,794.24 to 

$366,594.24 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 
 
Move to increase the 14B District Court Fund budget by $20,000 to $1,537,300 and 

approve the department line item changes as outlined. 
 
Move to increase the Golf Course Fund budget by $293,632 to $1,094,969 and approve 

the department line item changes as outlined. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety • Planning & Zoning • Ordinance Enforcement • Police Services 
 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive  •  Ypsilanti, MI  48197  •  (734) 485-4393 
 

 
To:  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
 

From:  Mike Radzik, OCS Director 
 

Re: Request to approve Planned Development Agreement for Manors at Creekside 
Village 

 

Copy: McLain & Winters; Carlisle Wortman Associates; Greg Windingland, Lombardo; 
Alex Mamo, Chief Building Official 

 

Date:  March 29, 2017 
 
 
Please accept this request to consider a Planned Development Agreement for the residential 
development known as Manors at Creekside Village and to place it on the agenda for the April 
4, 2017 meeting of the Board of Trustees. 
 
In 2004, the Board of Trustees approved a Revised Creekside Village South Developer’s PD 
Stage II Final Site Plan for the original planned development known as Creekside Village South.  
The 179-unit site condominium project is located at the southwest corner of Tuttle Hill and 
Merritt roads.  The original developer, Pulte Land Development Corporation, subsequently 
constructed 55 homes in the southern portion of the development and then pulled out of the 
project. 
 
In 2008, the remaining 141 vacant lots and the development rights were transferred to S.E. 
Michigan Land Holdings, LLC, doing business as Lombardo Homes.   Lombardo continued 
building new homes in the southern portion of the project. 
 
In 2011, Lombardo amended the Master Deed and effectively split the project into two 
developments.  The southern portion is known by its original name, Creekside Village South 
(South), while the northern portion is known as Manors at Creekside Village (Manors).  At that 
time, Lombardo agreed not to begin construction in Manors until South was completed. 
 
In 2013, the Board approved Completion Agreements with Lombardo for both South and 
Manors.  The agreements adjusted development sureties and amended street tree and 
common area sidewalk plans. 
 
The 93 home sites in South have been sold out and are substantially completed.  The South 
Homeowner’s Association has expressed no objection to the construction of homes in Manors. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive  •  Ypsilanti, MI  48197  •  (734) 485-4393 •  ytown.org 

On March 21, 2017, the Board approved issuing five foundation permits to allow construction 
to begin in Manors pending approval of a new Development Agreement. 
 
The remaining 86 vacant lots in the Manors are now ready to be completed pursuant to a 
Development Agreement, which is now presented to the Board for its consideration.  An 
irrevocable standby Letter of Credit for $100,000 is on deposit with the Treasurer’s Office 
covering the remaining uncompleted site improvements.  Lombardo also recently deposited a 
cash surety of $60,200 covering future installation of street trees.  The Building Department is 
ready to issue building permits for new home construction. 
 
I respectfully request that the Board of Trustees approve the enclosed Planned Development 
Agreement for Manors at Creekside Village, which has been reviewed by legal counsel.  Further, 
I request that the developer fully execute and record the agreement with the Washtenaw 
County Register of Deeds prior to the issuance of any building permits. 
 
Please contact me with questions or concerns. 
 
 
Regards, 
 
Michael J. Radzik 
Director, Office of Community Standards 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MANORS AT CREEKSIDE VILLAGE 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 THIS PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into on 
the date last signed by S.E. MICHIGAN LAND HOLDING LLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company, the address of which is 13001 23 Mile Road, Suite 200, Shelby Township, Michigan 
48315, including its successors and assigns (“Developer”), and the CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
OF YPSILANTI, a Michigan municipal corporation, the address of which is 7200 S. Huron 
River Drive, Ypsilanti, Michigan 48197-7099 (“Township”) (the Developer and Township are 
collectively referred to as the “Parties”).  
 

R E C I T A L S: 
 
 A. In 2004, Pulte Land Development Corporation, a Michigan corporation (the 
“Original Creekside Village South Developer”), held fee simple title to certain real property in 
the Township consisting of 62.26 acres located on the west side of Tuttle Hill Road, between 
Martz Road and Merritt Road, which real property is described on Exhibit A (the “Original 
Property”). 
 
 B. The Original Creekside Village South Developer applied to the Township for 
approval to develop on the Original Property a condominium planned development known as 
Creekside Village South (“Creekside Village South”), pursuant to Article XIX, Ypsilanti 
Township Zoning Ordinance.   
 
 C. Creekside Village South originally consisted of 179 site condominium units in 
one condominium known as Creekside Village South which was established pursuant to a Master 
Deed recorded with the Washtenaw County Register of Deeds, as subsequently amended (the 
“Creekside Village Master Deed”). 
 
 D. On November 10, 1998, the Township’s Planning Commission reviewed the 
Original Creekside Village South Developer’s request to rezone the Original Property from R-3 
(One-Family Residential) to PD (Planned Development), along with the Original Creekside 
Village South Developer’s application for PD State I Preliminary Site Plan Approval, which 
recommendations of approval were forwarded to the Township Board. 
 
 E. On May 4, 1999, the Township Board reviewed and approved the Original 
Creekside Village South Developer’s PD Stage I Preliminary Site Plan.   
 

205563754.2 32232/175705 



 
 

2 
 
 
 

 F. On May 4, 1999, the Township Board rezoned the Property to PD. 
 
 G. On August 24, 2004, the Township’s Planning Commission reviewed the Revised 
Creekside Village South Developer’s PD Stage II Final Site Plan for Creekside Village South 
with the Planning Commission’s recommendations of approval with conditions being forwarded 
to the Township Board. 
 
 H. On September 21, 2004, the Township Board reviewed and approved the Revised 
Creekside Village South Developer’s PD Stage II Final Site Plan for Creekside Village South. 
 
 I. The approved PD Stage II Final Site Plan for Creekside Village South is 
consistent with the purposes and objectives of the Condominium Act, Act 59 of the Public Acts 
of Michigan of 1978, as amended, and is otherwise consistent with the Township’s Zoning 
Ordinance and Condominium Regulations pertaining to the use and development of a plan 
development. 
 
 J.  On December 31, 2008, Developer became the fee simple owner of Units 1-86, as 
well as certain other units, of Creekside Village South and the rights of the developer under the 
Creekside Village Master Deed were assigned to Developer.   
 
 K. Pursuant to the April 19, 2011 Ypsilanti Township Board minutes, the applicant 
agreed to complete Creekside Village South prior to start of construction of Manors at Creekside 
Village. 
 

L.   Pursuant to a Fourth Amendment to the Creekside Village Master Deed recorded on 
April 22, 2011 with the Township’s consent, Developer withdrew from Creekside Village South 
land containing approximately 28.97 acres, which land is described on Exhibit A and contained 
Units 1-86 of Creekside Village South (the “Property”). 
 
 M. The Property was established as a condominium project consisting of 86 site 
condominium units known as Manors at Creekside Village pursuant to a Master Deed recorded 
on December 22, 2011 (the “Project”). 
 
 N. The Original Creekside Village South Developer substantially completed in 
accordance with the approved PD Stage I and PD Stage II Final Site Plans the installation of all 
necessary infrastructure within the Project such as, but not limited to, water mains, sanitary 
sewer mains, storm sewer mains, detention pond, roads, curbs, gutters and improvements to 
Merritt and Tuttle Hill Roads, without the necessity of special assessments by the Township 
(except for street lights).  Building permits are available for the units within the Project upon the 
completion of certain items.   
 
 O. Sheet 11 of the approved PD Stage II Final Site Plan for Creekside Village South 
shows elevations only of ranch-style homes and Developer shall construct only ranch-style 
homes within Manors at Creekside Village. 
 



 
 

3 
 
 
 

 P. On March 25, 2013, the Township Board approved a Completion Agreement for 
Manors at Creekside Village that addressed certain Developer sureties and that included an 
amended street tree and open space sidewalk plan and specifications. 
 

Q. Developer desires to obtain building permits for units within the Project. 
 
 R. The Township is holding an irrevocable standby letter of credit in the amount of 
$100,000 issued by JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (Chase LOC CTCS-863680) and that names 
the Township as the beneficiary, which Letter of Credit was furnished by Developer to the 
Township to secure completion of mass grading, water and sewer mains, street paving, certain 
landscaping and sidewalks for the Project (such letter of credit, as the same may be extended or 
replaced from time to time, is referred to herein as the “Existing Letter of Credit”). 
 
 S. Section 19.16 of Article XIX of the Township’s Zoning Ordinance requires the 
execution of a Planned Development Agreement in connection with the approval of the PD (Plan 
Development) District, which shall be binding upon the Township, developers and their 
successors in interest and assigns.  However, the Original Creekside Village South Developer 
failed to enter into a Planned Development Agreement with the Township, as required by 
Section 1916 of Article XIX of the Township’s Zoning Ordinance and conditions of PD Stage II 
Final Site Plan Approval. 
 
 T. The Township and Developer desire to enter into this Agreement to confirm the 
approvals that have been granted by the Township for the Project, to address the issuance of 
building permits for the Project, and to comply with Section 1916 of Article XIX of the 
Township’s Zoning Ordinance and conditions of PD Stage II Final Site Plan Approval. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the parties' promises, duties and covenants 
described in this Agreement, and with the express understanding that this Agreement contains 
important and essential terms as part of final approval of the Project, the parties agree as follows: 

 
Article I 

 
General Terms 

 
1.1 Name of Project. The development which is identified on Exhibit B, and 

which is to be developed pursuant to this Agreement shall be referred to as Manors at Creekside 
Village. 

 
1.2 Compliance with Applicable Laws.  Except as otherwise provided in this 

Agreement, all development, use, and improvement of the Property shall be subject to and in 
accordance with all applicable Township Ordinances and state laws, and shall also be subject to 
and in accordance with all other approvals and permits required under applicable Township 
Ordinances, County, and State laws for the respective components of the Manors at Creekside 
Village.  In the event the Township Ordinances are amended after the date of this Agreement, 
such amendments shall apply to the Property, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. 



 
 

4 
 
 
 

 1.3 Recitals Part of Agreement. Developer and Township acknowledge and 
represent that the Recitals are true, accurate and binding on the respective parties and are an 
integral part of this Agreement. 
 
 1.4 Rezoning to PD District. The Township acknowledges and represents that the 
Property has been rezoned from R-3 (One-Family Residential) to PD (Planned Development) 
district for the development of the Project as well as the portion of Creekside Village South that 
does not contain the Project.   

 1.5 Approval of PD Stage II Final Site Plan. The PD Stage II Final Site Plan for the 
Project, copies of which are on file with the Township, have been approved in accordance with 
the authority granted to and vested in the Township pursuant to Act 184, Public Acts of 1943, as 
amended, the Township Rural Zoning Act, Act 285, Public Acts of 1931, as amended, and Act 
168, Public Acts of 1945, as amended, relating to municipal planning, in accordance with 
Ordinance No. 74, [99-200] the Zoning Ordinance of Ypsilanti Township, enacted in 1994 
[1999], as amended, and specifically Article XIX entitled PD Planned Development Regulations, 
and in compliance with Act 288, Public Acts of 1967, as amended, the Land Division Act.  Such 
approved PD Stage II Final Site Plan remains in effect as of the date of this Agreement, as 
modified by this Agreement. 

 1.6 Conditions of PD Stage II Final Site Plan Approval. Developer and Township 
acknowledge that the approved PD Stage II Final Site Plan, which is attached as Exhibit C, for 
the Project incorporates the approved conditions and requirements pertaining to the final site 
plans that were adopted by the Township Board in its resolutions and are described as follows: 

(A) All conditions outlined in the August 2004 Staff Report from David Nicholson, 
Planning Director  

(B) All conditions outlined in the September 2, 2004 letters from Sally Richie, 
Planning Commission Secretary and David Nicholson, Planning Director.   

a. The site utility plans accommodate all requirements for easements and conflicts 
with landscape installations as noted in the correspondence from YCUA dated 
June 11, 2004. 

b. All other necessary permits and approvals are obtained from the permitting 
agencies described in the OHM letter of June 28, 2004. 

 1.7 PD Stage II Final Site Plan.  All further references in this Agreement to the PD 
Stage II Final Site Plan for the Project shall mean the PD Stage II Final Site Plan for the Project 
approved by the Township.     

 1.8 Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded with the Washtenaw County 
Register of Deeds. 

 



 
 

5 
 
 
 

Article II 

Agreement 

 2.1 Permitted Principal Uses. The only permitted principal uses within the Project 
shall be single-family dwellings and permitted accessory buildings and amenities as provided in 
a PD zone pursuant to the provisions of the Township's Zoning Ordinance and this Agreement. 

 2.2 Phasing. The Property shall be developed in a single phase. 

2.3 Plans and Elevations.  The approved plans and elevations for Manors at 
Creekside Village are attached hereto as Exhibit C. Any material modifications to the plans and 
elevations, shall be subject to the approval of the Township’s director of planning, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

2.4  Conditions.   

(A) Developer will use storm water castings with fish emblem 

(B) Developer will submit required documents for street lights with this 
Agreement 

(C) Developer will include in Master Deed and association by-laws that no 
fertilizer containing phosphorus will be used 

(D) Developer will not apply for soil/grading permit until this Agreement is 
signed 

(E) Final spacing and placement of fire hydrants on site shall be consistent with 
requirements of the Township Fire Department as described by the Fire 
Marshall 

2.5   Open Space Areas. The Master Deed identifies the General Common Element 
open space for the Project (the “Open Space”).  The Master Deed governs the use and 
maintenance of the Open Space, in accordance with this Agreement. Developer has formed 
Manors at Creekside Village Condominium Association, a Michigan non-profit corporation (the 
“Association”), to maintain all Open Space within the Project. Each Condominium unit owner 
shall have the non-exclusive right to use the Open Space for the purposes provided in this Article 
II and in accordance with the provisions of the Master Deed and the Bylaws for the Project and 
in accordance with such rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Association. The 
Township acknowledges that the Open Space areas delineated on the approved PD Stage II Site 
Plan meet the Township PD ordinance open space requirements. 

 The Open Space is to be used for wetland, storm water retention, recreation and open 
space purposes for the residents of the Project. No improvements shall be installed or constructed 
within the Open Space without the prior approval of the Township's Office of Community 
Standards, excepting those improvements installed by the Original Creekside Village South 



 
 

6 
 
 
 

Developer or Developer pursuant to the PD Stage II Final Site Plan or any amendment thereto. 
Although no other improvements are currently contemplated, upon due application by Developer 
and approval by the Township, the PD Stage II Final Site Plan and this Agreement may be 
amended to permit the installation of improvements within the Open Space, which may include, 
without limitation, roads, driveways, sidewalks, landscaping, storm drainage improvements, gas, 
electric and cable vision facilities, sanitary sewers, water supply lines, recreational amenities, 
and such other improvements as may be approved by the Township from time to time pursuant to 
plans approved by the Township. 

 2.6 Responsibility of Association to Preserve and Maintain the Open Space 
Areas.  The Association shall preserve and maintain the Open Space subject to the right of 
Developer to install, preserve, retain, maintain and repair the condominium improvements which 
are identified in the PD Stage II Final Site Plan, as may be amended from time to time, and/or 
the plans and specifications for the Project which have been or may hereafter be approved by the 
Township. The Association shall be responsible for removing any man-made debris that is 
deposited in the Open Space. The Association may establish reasonable rules for and shall be 
responsible for the regulation, maintenance and upkeep of Open Space, including improvements 
such as sidewalks, bike paths and nature trails. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent 
Developer from imposing in the Master Deed, or amendments thereto, more restrictive terms and 
provisions with respect to the use of any portion of the Open Space. The Association shall be 
governed by a Board of Directors.  The Board shall make all decisions regarding the Open 
Space, subject to the right of the individual co-owners to vote on certain matters as provided in 
the Master Deed, and subject to the right of Developer, while it continues to own any units 
within the Project, to grant easements within the Open Space to install, preserve, retain, maintain 
and repair the condominium improvements which are identified in the PD Stage II Final Site 
Plan, as may be amended from time to time, and/or the plans and specifications for the Project 
which have been or may hereafter be approved by the Township. The Association shall establish 
and levy assessments against the units within the Project for the purpose of performing the 
Association’s maintenance obligations with respect to the Open Space and for other proper 
purposes of the Association. The Association's assessment rights and each unit owner's 
assessment obligations are more fully set forth in the Master Deed. 

 2.7 Township Right to Enforce Open Space Area Obligation. In the event the 
Association fails at any time to preserve, retain, maintain or keep up the Open Space in 
accordance with this Agreement, the Township may serve written notice upon the Association by 
certified mail, setting forth the manner in which the Association has failed to maintain or 
preserve the Open Space in accordance with this Agreement. Such notice shall include a demand 
that deficiencies of maintenance or preservation be cured within thirty (30) days of the notice 
unless otherwise regulated by Township Ordinance. If the deficiencies set forth in the original 
notice, or any subsequent notice, are not cured within the thirty (30) day period or any extension 
granted, the Township, in order to prevent the Open Space from becoming a nuisance and/or a 
threat to the public health, safety and general welfare, may enter upon the Open Space and 
perform the required maintenance and/or preservation and the cost, together with a ten (10%) 
percent surcharge for administrative costs, shall be assessed equally against each unit and shall 



 
 

7 
 
 
 

constitute a lien on the Property and be placed on the next Township roll as a special assessment 
and collected in the same manner as general property taxes. 

 2.8 Installation of Sidewalks and Bike Paths.  Developer shall install sidewalks, 
bike paths and nature trails within the street right-of-way in accordance with the final approved 
site plan.  All sidewalks, bike paths and nature trails installed within the interior of the Project 
shall be maintained by the Developer, until such time as said maintenance obligations are 
assigned by Developer to the Association.  Upon the assignment to and assumption by the 
Association of Developer’s maintenance obligations with respect to the Open Space Areas, 
including, but not limited to, sidewalks, bike paths and nature trails, Developer shall have no 
further obligations or liability with respect thereto. 

 2.9 Successor Developers, and Assigns.  All successor developers and assigns, to the 
extent that their ownership interest in the Project permits them to operate as a developer for a 
particular portion of the Project, shall perform the duties of the developer and assume the 
responsibilities and liability of the developer with respect to such portion of the Project. 

 2.10 Master Deeds and Bylaws.  The original Master Deed and Bylaws for the Project 
have been approved by the Township and were recorded with the Washtenaw County Register of 
Deeds in Liber 4880, Page 66.   Amended Master Deed and Bylaws for the Project shall be 
recorded with the Washtenaw County Register of Deeds.       

 2.11 Condominium Association. The Association shall be responsible for maintaining 
the general common element areas of the Project for the common use and benefit of all residents 
and owners of units within the Project.  Every owner of a unit shall be a member of the 
Association. All membership rights and obligations shall be appurtenant to and may not be 
separated from the ownership of any unit. During the period that Developer is entitled to appoint 
the directors of the Association, Developer shall notify the Township Clerk and Community 
Watch Specialist of the names and addresses of each Director of the Association within seven (7) 
days of their appointment by Developer. 

 2.12 Association Assessments.  The Association shall establish and levy assessments 
against the units within the Project for the purpose of performing the Association's maintenance 
and repair obligations with respect to any general common elements within the Condominium, 
including but not limited to the Open Space, and for other proper purposes of the Association. 
The Association's assessment rights and the unit owner's assessment obligations are more fully 
set forth in the Master Deed and Bylaws for the Project. 

 2.13 Storm Water Management. The Developer shall preserve, retain, maintain and 
keep operational any detention areas, inlet and outlet areas, and other storm drainage facilities 
which are installed by the Developer within Manors At Creekside Village, whether arising under 
this Agreement, or any other open space maintenance agreements or other maintenance and/or 
easement agreements entered into with the Township or other governmental entities, from the 
date of certification by the Township engineer that he or she has inspected the required 
improvements and is reasonably satisfied that they are proper and complete.  Until the 
completion of the storm water and detention facilities within Manors at Creekside Village and 



 
 

8 
 
 
 

the approval of such storm drainage and detention facilities by the Washtenaw County Water 
Resources Commissioner, the Developer shall be responsible for the maintenance of such storm 
drainage and detention facilities. After receiving such approval from the Washtenaw County 
Water Resources Commissioner, Developer shall have no further obligations under this Section 
2.12. 

 
In the event that the Developer at any time fails to maintain or preserve the detention areas, the 
inlet and outlet areas, or other storm drainage facilities located within Manors At Creekside 
Village in accordance with this Agreement, the Township or the Washtenaw County Water 
Resources Commissioner’s Office may serve written notice by certified mail upon the 
Developer, setting forth the deficiencies in the Developer maintenance and/or preservation of the 
detention areas, inlet and outlet areas or other storm drainage facilities in accordance with this 
Agreement.  The written notice shall include a demand that deficiencies of maintenance and/or 
preservation be cured within thirty (30) days of the date of said notice.  If the deficiencies set 
forth in the original notice, or any subsequent notice are not cured within the thirty (30) day 
period, the Township, in order to prevent the detention areas, inlet and outlet areas, etc. from 
becoming a nuisance, may enter upon the detention areas, inlet and outlet areas, or other storm 
drainage facilities, and perform the required maintenance and/or preservation to cure the 
deficiencies.  The Township’s cost to perform any such maintenance and/or preservation, 
together with a ten (10%) surcharge for administrative costs, shall be placed on the next 
Township roll as a special assessment against Manors at Creekside Village and collected in the 
same manner as general property taxes. 
 
 2.14 No Disturbance of Wetlands. No regulated wetlands within the Project shall be 
modified in any manner by any person or entity unless all necessary permits have been issued by 
all governmental units or agencies having jurisdiction over such wetlands within the Property.  
The Township and Developer acknowledge that they are not aware of the presence of any 
regulated wetlands within the Project as of the date hereof. 

 2.15 Applicable Yard Setbacks. The parties acknowledge that the PD Stage II Final 
Site Plan identifies, for each unit within the Project, the width and size of such unit, and a typical 
layout that shows the approved front yard, rear yard and side yard setbacks for each unit in the 
Project. Such approved setbacks have been selected to accomplish the preservation of natural 
resources and natural features, such as trees, views, vistas and topography. No exterior wall of a 
principal residence shall be erected or placed other than within the confines of the approved 
building area without the consent of the Township. Minor variances to the foregoing setback and 
yard requirements may be administratively approved by the Township Office of Community 
Standards, without the necessity of amending this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
decks, patios, unenclosed covered spaces, cantilevers and egress wells may extend into the rear 
yard and side yard setback areas in accordance with Article XX, Section 2000 of the Township’s 
Zoning Ordinance. 

 2.16 Other Zoning Regulations. The Project and this Agreement are intended to 
conform to the PD II planned development regulations of the Township Zoning Ordinance. In 
the event of a conflict or inconsistency between this Agreement, the approved PD Stage II Final 



 
 

9 
 
 
 

Site Plan and the construction plans which have been prepared in accordance with the approved 
PD State II Final Site Plan, versus the provisions of the Township Zoning Ordinance, the 
Township Site Condominium Ordinance or any other Township ordinances, rules and regulations 
which affect the development or zoning regulation of the Property, as the same may be amended 
from time to time, this Agreement, the PD Stage II Final Site Plan and the detailed construction 
plans shall control and variances shall not be required. 

 2.17 Development Review. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Agreement, the PD Stage II Final Site Plan, detailed construction plans for the Project, and 
homes to be built within the Project shall not be subject to any enactments or amendments to the 
Township Zoning Ordinance, the Township Site Condominium Ordinance, or any other 
Township ordinances, rules and regulations which affect the development of the Property or the 
architectural standards governing home construction in the Project that became effective after 
September 21, 2004, the date of the approval of the PD Stage II Final Site Plan for the Project. 
Detailed construction plans for land development have been reviewed and approved taking into 
consideration this Agreement, the PD State II Final Site Plan, the Township Zoning Ordinance, 
the Township Site Condominium Ordinance and any other applicable Township ordinances, 
rules and regulations, as they existed as of the foregoing date. 

 2.18 Traffic and Pedestrian Circulation. Developer shall design, situate, and 
construct, and the Association shall maintain and repair (to the extent the following have not 
been dedicated to and accepted by the Washtenaw County Road Commission or other 
governmental authority and to the extent owners of units in the Project are not responsible for 
maintenance or repair under the Master Deed for the Project), all roads, entranceways, drives, 
parking lots, safety paths, sidewalks, walkways, and traffic circulation signage within and for the 
Manors at Creekside Village, at its sole expense, in accordance with the approved construction 
plans prepared by Atwell, and approved by Township Engineer Orchard, Hiltz, and McCliment 
(OHM), dated August 19, 2004. Manors at Creekside Village shall post financial security 
relating to the completion of construction of all such roads, drives, and parking lots within and 
for the Manors at Creekside Village in accordance with and as set forth in this Agreement. The 
Developer shall use its best efforts and diligently pursue necessary easements over adjoining 
properties in order to provide access to the Project in accordance with and as set forth in this 
Agreement. All road construction shall be in compliance with Chapter 47 of the Ypsilanti 
Charter Township Code and any private road standards adopted by the Township.  Developer 
shall enter into a traffic safety enforcement agreement with the Township. 

 2.19 Public Sewer and Water.  Manors At Creekside Village shall be developed with 
public sanitary sewers as approved by the YCUA and the Michigan Department of 
Environmental Quality, subject to all applicable laws and regulations, and shall be developed 
with public water mains as approved by YCUA and the Michigan Department of Public Health, 
and subject to applicable laws and regulations.  All standard connection, inspection, costs and 
fees imposed from and after the date of this Agreement by the Township with respect to the 
issuance of building permits in Manors At Creekside Village, including but not limited to 
engineering inspections, water tap fees and sewer tap fees, shall be paid by the Developer, or its 
successors or assigns, except for the portion previously paid for such connections, including but 



 
 

10 
 
 
 

not limited to those as shown in the YCUA Estimate of Costs- Application for Services.  To the 
extent not previously done so by the Original Creekside Village South Developer, S.E. Michigan 
Land Holding LLC shall dedicate all necessary easements to the Township for the maintenance, 
repair and replacement of the public water and sanitary sewer lines within Manors at Creekside 
Village.  

 2.20 Street Trees.  The Developer shall install within Manors at Creekside Village the 
landscaping, including street trees, which is identified in the landscaping plans that have been 
approved as part of the PD Stage II Final Site Plan and as amended as part of the Manors at 
Creekside Village Completion Agreement approved by the Board on March 25, 2013. 

 2.21 Street Lighting.  The Township has created and established a Special Assessment 
District for the purpose of defraying the costs of the annual maintenance and operation of street 
lighting by special assessments against all of the units in the Project and Creekside Village 
South.  The Township and Developer acknowledge that street lighting, which meets or exceeds 
the minimum residential street lighting standards of the DTE Energy, was previously installed 
within the Project. 

 2.22 Security Cameras.  Security cameras shall be installed at the entranceways on 
Merritt Road and on Tuttle Hill Road.  The security cameras shall meet the specifications 
established by the Township and shall be installed before the issuance of certificates of 
occupancy for Manors at Creekside Village, unless in the sole judgment of the Township a delay 
exists that is beyond the reasonable control of Developer.  Such camera shall be monitored by 
the Township’s Department of Public Safety.  The creation and establishment of a special 
assessment district ("Security Camera SAD") for the purpose of defraying the Township’s cost 
of maintaining and repairing the security cameras shall be established for Manors At Creekside 
Village and such Security Camera SAD shall be established prior to the issuance of certificates 
of occupancy within Manors At Creekside Village, unless in the sole judgement of Township a 
delay exists that is beyond the reasonable control of Developer.  The Developer shall assist the 
Township in creating the Security Camera SAD.  The Security Camera SAD for Manors at 
Creekside Village shall be based on the relative number of units. 

2.23 Manors at Creekside Village – Rent Restrictions for New Site 
Condominiums. Developer agrees to impose certain restrictions on the rental of homes within 
the Project, in order to promote and preserve the owner occupied character of such 
neighborhoods. At the same time, the parties recognize that a homeowner may need to lease his 
or her home due to various circumstances, such as a job transfer, relocation, the loss of a job or 
for health or other reasons. Lease rates within Manors at Creekside Village shall be consistent 
with market rates in the Township for single-family detached units. The Developer shall have the 
right to adjust such rates at any and all times in response to market conditions. Manors at 
Creekside Village shall comply with all applicable fair housing requirements established by the 
State of Michigan and by the federal government. To the extent permitted by federal, state and 
local law, including the laws adopted and enforced by the Township, the rental of units within 
Manors at Creekside Village shall not be at subsidized rates or pursuant to programs offered by 
any governmental agency for subsidized housing.  The Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees, as 
part of its ongoing efforts to achieve the adopted policy goals of Neighborhood Stabilization and 



 
 

11 
 
 
 

to find solutions to the long term housing crisis in relation to occupancy and physical condition 
of residential structures within the Township and furthermore to promote balance in Washtenaw 
County’s housing market through policy and resource allocations including partnerships and 
collaborations throughout Washtenaw County with the overarching goal of promoting policies 
that create resiliency, promote equity and improve opportunity for households of all income 
levels throughout the County, do hereby make and  restate the following “Findings of Fact” in 
support hereof. 

 
(A) The Charter Township of Ypsilanti implemented a nuisance abatement program 

with regard to foreclosed property, which program is based upon the fact that 
Ypsilanti Township has experienced over 3,100 foreclosures between 2007 and 
2015.  The Township has 33% of foreclosures in Washtenaw County, but constitute 
15% of the county’s households and population; that as a result of these 
foreclosures, the average SEV of residential properties decreased 37% from 
85,550.00 to 52,526.00; that many foreclosed properties became rental properties 
and the increase in rental properties demonstrates a corresponding increase in 
crimes and calls for police services. 

 
(B) Due to the unprecedented number of residential foreclosures between 2007 and 

2015, Ypsilanti Township enacted Ordinance No. 2015-450 regarding vacant 
property registration and regulation in response to the disproportionate number of 
foreclosed properties in the Township.  The implementation of this nuisance 
abatement program in conjunction with the vacant property ordinance has resulted 
in increased demand for legal services and staff resources for the filing of nuisance 
abatement civil actions in the Washtenaw County Circuit Court.   

 
(C) During this most severe housing crisis not seen since the “Great Depression,” the 

Washtenaw County Office of Community and Economic Development undertook 
an analysis of housing market conditions throughout the County, which included 
support from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(“HUD”).  This analysis resulted in a comprehensive report entitled “Housing 
Affordability and Economic Equity - Analysis”, which report was published in 
January, 2015.  The Township Board adopted this report by passage of Resolution 
2015-4 on March 3, 2015.  This study found inter alia that Ypsilanti Township is 
experiencing “vastly disproportionate numbers of subsidized housing units” in the 
Township (p. 5); that the Township “is at risk of entering a point of no return in its 
downward spiral, as the domino effect of foreclosures roots ever more deeply” (p. 
5); that the Township “cannot remain the de facto affordable housing policy for 
Ann Arbor and Pittsfield; that “continuation of this default way of operating will 
ensure further decline in property values and fiscal stability” (p. 38); and that the 
Township “must find partners to intervene in the destabilizing cycle of foreclosure, 
disinvestment, abandonment, flipping and distress.” (p. 38) 

 
(D) During the aforementioned time period, the City of Ann Arbor Housing 

Commission released a study in 2012 which examined the Housing Choice Voucher 



 
 

12 
 
 
 

Program (Section 8), which report concluded that Ypsilanti Township had 547 
housing vouchers; that the 547 vouchers constitute 40% of all voucher participants 
in Washtenaw County while the Township comprises 15% of the county 
population; that the percentage of the county population using vouchers in the 
Township is 2.8 times higher than the County as a whole and 4.4 times higher than 
the City of Ann Arbor. 

 
Thus, based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, the policy of prohibiting rental units 
from being rented at subsidized rates or pursuant to programs offered or mandated by any 
governmental agency for subsidized housing reflect legitimate governmental interests in 
stabilizing property values, stabilizing incomes and reducing disparities in income, 
reducing the impacts of disproportionate concentrations of struggling families and 
corresponding issues of crime, inadequate property maintenance and fiscal stress, and 
moderating the increased cost of providing supporting governmental services. The 
foregoing Findings of Fact are the representations of the Township, only, and do not 
constitute the representations or warranties of S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC. 
 
Based on the foregoing, the Project shall be subject to the following restrictions: 

 
(E) A single family home within the above Development shall not be purchased for the 

purpose of leasing the home to other persons. A home within the above- referenced 
Development shall only be sold to persons who intend to occupy such home as their 
personal residence. 

(F) If a home owner whose home qualifies as the home owner's principal residence 
under the Michigan  General Property Tax Act, Act 206 of 1893, as amended, 
vacates his or her home, such home owner will be permitted to lease his or her 
home to other persons during the period such home owner continues to hold title to 
the home, If such home owner thereafter conveys or otherwise transfers title to the 
home, any lease then in effect shall automatically terminate and, subject to 
subparagraph (G) below, the tenant(s) shall be required to immediately vacate the 
home, unless such tenant is the purchaser of the home. 

(G) A homeowner who is permitted to lease his or her home pursuant to subparagraph 
(F) above, may lease the home for a period not to exceed three (3) years, regardless 
of whether the home owner continues to own the home beyond such three (3) year 
period. However, upon the request of the home owner to the applicable Association 
Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may, upon a showing of good cause, 
grant a "one time only" extension which extension may be for any number of 
months with a maximum of 24 months and shall not, under any circumstances, 
exceed two (2) additional years to lease the home. 

(H) For purposes of the foregoing restrictions, the grant of a mortgage by a homeowner 
shall not constitute a transfer of the homeowner’s title to the home.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, a mortgagee that obtains 
possession of a home by foreclosure, receivership or deed in lieu of foreclosure, 
shall also be permitted to lease the home to other persons during the period such 



 
 

13 
 
 
 

mortgagee (or any affiliated entity formed by the mortgagee to hold title to the 
mortgagee's foreclosed properties) holds title to the   home. 

(I) The rental rates for homes permitted to be leased under this Section shall be 
consistent with the overall rental market of similarly sized rental properties within 
the Township, and to the extent permitted by federal, state and local law, including 
the laws adopted and enforced by the Township, the rental of homes shall not be at 
subsidized rates or pursuant to programs offered by any governmental agency for 
subsidized housing. 

(J) Except as provided above in this Section, the leasing of homes within Development 
shall not be permitted, unless a written waiver is obtained from the Board of 
Directors of the Association formed to administer the affairs of such Development. 

(K) The leasing of homes shall otherwise be subject to all applicable ordinances of the 
Township pertaining to the leasing of single family residential properties, including 
ordinances pertaining to licensing and inspections. 

(L) All leases or rental agreements that are permitted under this Section shall 
incorporate the foregoing provisions. 

(M) The foregoing restrictions shall be contained in the master deeds for the above-
referenced Development. The master deeds shall also contain provisions, approved 
by the Township, giving the Township the authority to enforce the foregoing 
restrictions and prohibiting the amendment of such restrictions without the prior 
consent of the Township. In addition, the master deeds for the Project may contain 
such additional restrictions relating to the leasing of condominium units, as 
determined by the Developer. 

 
 2.24 Surety and Escrows for Infrastructure Improvements.  The Developer shall 
post with the Township or other governmental entity cash, escrow agreement, irrevocable letter 
of credit, or check payable to the Township in an amount which has been reasonably determined 
by the Township Engineer to cover the cost of completing any remaining site improvements of 
Manors At Creekside Village which S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC is developing, including, 
mass grading, underground and site improvements such as, but not limited to, water mains, water 
lead relocations and abandonments, sanitary sewers, sanitary lead relocations and abandonments, 
WCWRC storm sewers, parking lot lights, curb replacements, street paving, retention ponds and 
any other site improvements required by the Township, with respect to Manors At Creekside 
Village being developed by the Developer.  The Parties acknowledge that the Existing Letter of 
Credit previously furnished by Developer to the Township and currently held by the Township 
satisfies the Developer’s obligations under this Section 2.23.  The Developer may satisfy the 
foregoing surety or escrow requirement in all or in part by the posting of such surety or escrows 
for such improvements with other governmental entities (e.g. the WCRC, the WCWRC, YCUA, 
etc.) and to the extent any of the foregoing governmental entities hold performance guaranties 
for any such improvements, the Developer shall be deemed to have satisfied its performance 
guaranty obligations for such improvements under this Agreement. The Developer shall deliver 
to the Township Treasurer’s office copies of all such surety or escrow agreements with other 
governmental entities.  The surety amount required by the Township may be reduced 
incrementally as improvements within Manors at Creekside Village are accepted and approved 
and the Township agrees that, at the Developer’s request and upon approval from the appropriate 



 
 

14 
 
 
 

inspecting agency, sureties held by the Township will be reduced or released to the Developer 
for completed portions of Manors at Creekside Village. The Township will use its good faith 
commercially reasonable efforts to reduce or release such sureties to the Developer within forty-
five (45) days from the Township’s receipt of a written request from the Developer. 

 2.25 Monuments/Corner Markers.  The Township and the Developer acknowledge 
and agree that all required monuments and unit irons have been installed within the Project. 

 2.26 Construction Access.  The Developer shall take all reasonable measures 
requested by the Township to reduce any dust created by trucks traveling to and from its 
construction site, including placing brine on the roads when requested by the Township, as well 
as deploying a water truck on site when dust conditions create a nuisance during the site 
development stage of construction, if applicable, the expense of which shall be borne exclusively 
by the Developer.   

 2.27 Engineering Plans and Certification. 

  (A) The Township acknowledges receipt of a "project engineer's certificate," 
indicating that the water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and the storm water detention/retention 
facilities located within the Project have been constructed in accordance with this Agreement, the 
PD Stage II Final Site Plan and engineering plans reviewed by the Township. 

  (B) If not previously furnished by the Original Creekside Village South 
Developer to the Township, the Developer shall furnish to the Township "as built" engineering 
plans (3 copies, microfilmed), reviewed and approved by the Township Engineer, showing all 
site improvements installed within the Project.  All inspections for water and sewer (sanitary and 
storm) installations within a portion of the Project are to be performed by Township and YCUA 
engineering inspectors, with applicable fees paid by Developer. 

  (C) Developer shall furnish a "project engineer's certificate" for each portion 
of the Project for which Developer has requested and has been approved for the issuance of 
building permits indicating that all soil erosion and sedimentation measures for such portion of 
the Project have been complied with, according to local Ordinance #102 and part 91 of Act 451 
of the Public Acts of 1994. 

 2.28 Underground Utilities.  To the extent not previously installed, the Developer 
shall cause to be installed underground within each portion of the Project for which S.E. 
Michigan Land Holding LLC has requested and has been approved for the issuance of building 
permits, all electric, telephone and other communication systems, in accordance with the 
requirements of the applicable utility company. The Developer shall dedicate all easements 
necessary for the installation and maintenance of such utilities to the extent such easements were 
not established by the Original Creekside Village South Developer. 

 2.29 Removal of Construction Debris.  The Developer shall remove all discarded 
building materials and rubbish at least once every two weeks during installation and construction 
of site improvements within Manors at Creekside Village and within two weeks of completion or 



 
 

15 
 
 
 

abandonment of construction of each development phase. The Developer or its designated 
builder shall provide temporary containment units for the storage of debris and discarded 
building material until such time that the materials are scheduled to be removed.  No burning of 
discarded construction material shall be allowed. 

2.30 Maintenance Program.  The Developer will establish and the Association will 
implement an ongoing maintenance program for Manors at Creekside Village which complies 
with the more stringent of the standards required by the Township's Property Maintenance Code 
or the following standards of the Developer: (i) Landscaping Specifications- Mowing and 
weeding is performed weekly.  Grass height is maintained between 2.75” and 3”; (ii) Snow Plow 
- Roads are cleared once snow depth reaches 2” for roadways, unless the Washtenaw County 
Road Commission is responsible for such snow clearance.  Walkways are cleared once snow 
depth reaches 1” and there is no limit on the number of pushes/clearings. 

2.31 Developer's Marketing Procedures.  The Developer may, in Developer’s sole 
determination utilize one home as a sales center and model home. 

2.32 Vested Project.  Manors at Creekside Village shall be deemed fully "vested".  

2.33 Township Enforcement. In the event there is a failure to timely perform any 
obligation or undertaking required under or in accordance with this Agreement, the Township 
may serve written notice upon the Developer, Association and/or  the owner of the portion of the 
Property with respect to which the obligation or undertaking is required (the “violating party”) 
setting forth such deficiencies and a demand that the deficiencies be cured within a stated 
reasonable time period, and the date, time, and place for a hearing before the Township Board, or 
such other board, body, or official delegated by the Township Board, for the purpose of allowing 
the violating party an opportunity to be heard as to why the Township should not proceed with 
the correction of the deficiency or obligation which has not been undertaken or property fulfilled. 
At any such hearing, the time for curing and the hearing itself may be extended and/or continued 
to a date certain. The foregoing notice and hearing requirements shall not be necessary in the 
event the Township determines in its discretion that an emergency situation exists requiring 
immediate action. If, following the hearing described above, the Township Board, or such other 
board, body, or official designated to conduct the hearing, determines that the obligation has not 
been fulfilled or failure corrected within the time specified in the notice, or if an emergency 
circumstance exists as determined by the Township in its discretion, the Township shall 
thereupon have the power and authority, but not the obligation, to take any or all of the following 
actions, in addition to any actions authorized under Township ordinances and/or State laws: 

(A) Enter upon the Property, or cause its agents or contractors to enter the Property, 
and perform such obligation or take such corrective measures as reasonably found 
by the Township to be appropriate. The cost and expense of making and financing 
such actions by the Township, including notices by the Township and legal fees 
incurred by the Township, plus an administrative fee in an amount equivalent to 
twenty-five percent (25%) of the total of all such costs and expenses incurred, 
shall be paid by the violating party within thirty (30) days of a billing to the 
violating party. The payment obligation under this paragraph shall be secured by a 



 
 

16 
 
 
 

lien against the phase or phases of the Property within which the deficiency exists, 
which lien shall be deemed effective as of the date of the initial written notice of 
deficiency provided to the violating party pursuant to this paragraph, or in 
emergency circumstances, the date at which the Township incurred its first cost or 
expense in taking corrective action. Such security shall be realized by placing a 
billing which has been unpaid by the violating party for more than thirty (30) days 
on the delinquent tax rolls of the Township relative to such portion of the Property 
as a special assessment, to accumulate interest and penalties, and to be deemed 
and collected, as and in the same manner as made and provided for collection of 
delinquent real property taxes. In the discretion of the Township, such costs and 
expenses may be collected by suit initiated against the violating party, and, in 
such event, the violating party shall pay all court costs and attorney fees incurred 
by the Township in connection with such suit if the Township prevails in 
collecting funds thereby. This provision does not preclude the Township from 
exercising its rights under Section 1.6 of this Agreement. 

(B) Initiate legal action for the enforcement of any of the provisions, requirements, or 
obligations set forth in this Agreement. Except in emergency circumstances, the 
violating party shall be provided notice of the deficiencies from the Township and 
shall be afforded an opportunity to timely correct. In the event the Township 
obtains any relief as a result of such litigation, the violating party shall pay all 
court costs and attorney fees incurred by the Township in connection with such 
suit. 

(C) The Township may issue a stop work order as to any or all aspects of the Project, 
may deny the issuance of any requested building permit or certificate of 
occupancy within any part or all of the Project regardless of whether the violating 
party is the named applicant for such permit or certificate of occupancy, and may 
suspend further inspections of any or all aspects of the Project prior to the hearing 
which shall remain in force until the violation is cured or the Township and the 
Developer or violating party reach an agreement regarding the violation or 
default. 

2.34 Delay in Enforcement; Severability. Any failure or delay by the Township to 
enforce any provision herein contained shall in no event be deemed, construed, or relied upon as 
a waiver or estoppel of the right to eventually do so thereafter. Each provision and obligation 
contained herein shall be considered to be an independent and separate covenant and agreement, 
and in the event one or more of the provisions and/or obligations shall for any reason be held to 
be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, all remaining provisions and/or 
obligations shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. 

2.35 Access to Property. In all instances in which the Township utilizes the proceeds 
of a financial assurance given to ensure completion or maintenance of improvements, and at any 
time throughout the period of development and construction of any part of the Project, the 
Township and its contractors, representatives, consultants, and agents shall be permitted and are 
hereby granted authority to enter upon all or any portion of the Property for the purpose of 



 
 

17 
 
 
 

inspecting and/or completing the respective improvements and for the purposes of inspecting for 
compliance with and enforcing this Agreement. 

2.36 Agreement Jointly Drafted. The Parties have negotiated the terms of this 
Agreement, and such documentation represents the product of the joint efforts and mutual 
agreements of the Parties. The Developer fully accepts and agrees to the final terms, conditions, 
requirements, and obligations of this Agreement, and they shall not be permitted in the future to 
claim that the effect of this Agreement results in an unreasonable limitation upon uses of all or a 
portion of the Property, or claim that enforcement of this Agreement causes an inverse 
condemnation, other condemnation or taking of all or any portion of the Property. Furthermore, 
it is agreed that the improvements and undertakings described in this Agreement are necessary 
and roughly proportional to the burden imposed and are necessary in order to: (i) ensure that 
public services and facilities necessary for and affected by the Project will be capable of 
accommodating the development on the Property and the increased service and facility loads 
caused by the Project; (ii) protect the natural environment and conserve natural resources; (iii) 
ensure compatibility with adjacent uses of land; (iv) promote use of the Property in a socially, 
environmentally, and economically desirable manner; and (v) achieve other legitimate objectives 
authorized under the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3301 et seq. It is further agreed 
and acknowledged hereby that all such improvements, both on-site and off-site, are clearly and 
substantially related to the burdens to be created by the development of the Property, and all such 
improvements without exception are clearly and substantially related to the Township’s 
legitimate interests in protecting the public health, safety, and general welfare. The Parties 
acknowledge and agree that such improvements, both on-site and off-site, have been found to be 
necessary and constitute a recognizable and material benefit to the ultimate users of the Manors 
at Creekside Village and to the community. 

2.37 Ambiguities and Inconsistencies. Where there is a question with regard to 
applicable regulations for a particular aspect of the Project, or with regard to clarification, 
interpretation, or definition of terms or regulations, and there are no apparent express provisions 
of this Agreement which apply, the Township, in the reasonable exercise of its discretion, shall 
determine whether the regulations of the Township’s Zoning Ordinance, as amended, or other 
Township Ordinances are applicable, provided such determination is not inconsistent with the 
nature and intent of this Agreement. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between two or 
more provisions of this Agreement, the more restrictive provision shall apply. 

2.38 Warranty of Ownership. The Developer hereby warrants that it is the owner in 
fee simple of the Property described on the attached Property Description Exhibit B. 

2.39 Running with the Land; Governing Law. This Development Agreement shall 
run with the land constituting the Property, and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 
the Parties and all of their respective heirs, successors, assigns, and transferees. This Agreement 
may be recorded by any of the Parties following the execution of this Agreement. This 
Development Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with Michigan law 
and shall be subject to enforcement only in Michigan courts. The parties understand and agree 
that this Development Agreement is consistent with the intent and provisions of the Michigan 
and U.S. Constitutions and all applicable law.  



 
 

18 
 
 
 

2.40 Agreements.  S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC agrees: 

(A) To provide a “plan for signs” and installation of street name signs according to 
Washtenaw County Road Commission specifications upon or following 
commencement of construction (but in any event, to be approved and installed 
prior to issuance of a final certificate of occupancy) and to install such temporary 
warning signs and temporary road name signs during the construction period as 
are appropriate to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public, in 
accordance with applicable requirements. 

(B) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the following 
understandings have been reached between the Township and the S.E. Michigan 
Land Holding LLC as a part of S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC preliminary site 
plan approval and are hereby reaffirmed and incorporated in this Agreement: 

(1) S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC shall enter into a binding deed 
restriction enforceable in perpetuity which would preclude an owner of 
the Manors at Creekside Village from ever increasing the density of 
the site beyond 86 units. This restriction is voluntarily and freely 
undertaken by S.E. Michigan Land Holding. 

(2) S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC Landscape Architectural Plans shall 
include appropriate berming and planting (including adjacent to the 
neighboring single- family residences) in accordance with the 
approved site plan. 

(3) S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC shall endeavor to cooperate with the 
Township Solid Waste Committee on future recycling activities. 

(4) S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC shall paint fire hydrants “Rustoleum 
School Bus Yellow'' in accordance with Township Fire Departments 
standards. 

Article III 

Miscellaneous 

 3.1 Modifications.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one agreement.  The 
signature of any party to any counterpart shall be deemed to be a signature to, and may be 
appended to, any other counterpart.  This Agreement may not be modified, replaced, amended or 
terminated without the prior written consent of the Parties. 

(A) Headings; Construction.  The various headings of this Agreement are included 
for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this 



 
 

19 
 
 
 

Agreement or any provision.  When the context and construction so require, all 
words used in the singular shall be deemed to have been used in the plural and the 
masculine shall include the feminine and the neuter and vice versa.  Capitalized 
words or phrases not otherwise defined herein shall be construed to be consistent 
with those words or phrases as used in the Final Site Plan.   

 
(B) Partial Validity; Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement or its 

application to any person or circumstance shall, to any extent, be held invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term or 
provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held 
invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected, and each such term and provision 
of this Agreement shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by 
law. 

 
(C) No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is for the sole and exclusive 

benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors in interest and assigns, 
and no third party is intended to, or shall have, any rights hereunder. 

 
(D) Joint Product of Parties.  This Agreement is the result of arms-length 

negotiations between S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC and the Township and 
their respective attorneys.  Accordingly, none of the parties shall be deemed to be 
the author of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be construed against 
either party. 

 
(E) Inspections.  In consideration of the above undertakings, the Township shall 

provide timely and reasonable Township inspections as may be required during 
construction of Manors at Creekside Village. 

 
(F) Recordation of Agreement.  S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC shall record this 

Agreement with the Washtenaw County Register of Deeds and further provide a 
recorded copy to the Township Clerks Office. 

 
(G) Effect of Agreement.  The terms and provisions of this Agreement and the PD 

Stage II Final Site Plan for Manors at Creekside Village shall continue in full 
force and effect.  In the event of any conflict between the terms and provisions of 
this Agreement and/or any other agreement or applicable document, including the 
PD Stage II Final Site Plan for Manors at Creekside Village, and the provisions of 
the Zoning Ordinance or any other Township ordinances, rules, regulations or any 
amendments thereto, the provisions of this Agreement and the PD Stage II Final 
Site Plan for Manors at Creekside Village shall control and variances shall not be 
required. 

 
(H) Effective Date.     The Effective Date of this Amendment shall be the last date on 

which both S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC and the Township sign this 
Amendment. 



 
 

20 
 
 
 

  
 

The Township Hereby Agrees: 
 

(1) To accept appropriate easements for public water mains and sanitary sewers.  
 

(2) To provide timely and reasonable Township inspections as may be required during 
construction. 

 
(3) Building permits shall be available for all units in Manors at Creekside Village 

following usual submittal and review procedures and payment of applicable fees upon 
(i) Township Board approval of this Development Agreement and (ii) notarized 
execution of this Development Agreement by S.E. Michigan Land Holding LLC 
provided to the Township.  

 

 

Signatures and acknowledgments by the parties and approval by 
counsel for the parties appear on following pages 

        



 
 

21 
 
 
 

Developer: 
 
      S.E. MICHIGAN LAND HOLDING LLC, a 
      Michigan limited liability company 
 
 
      By:         
       Anthony F. Lombardo, its Manager 
 
 
STATE OF    ) 
    )SS 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
 On this _____ day of ____________________, 2017, the foregoing instrument was 
acknowledged before me by Anthony F. Lombardo, Manager of S.E. Michigan Land Holding 
LLC, a Michigan limited liability company on behalf of the company.  
 
 

_______________________________________ 
___________________________, Notary Public  
____________ County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:__________________  
Acting in ______________ County, Michigan 

 
 
  



 
 

22 
 
 
 

      Township: 
 
      CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI, a  
      Michigan municipal corporation 
 
      By:         
 
      Its:  Supervisor      
 
      CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI, a  
      Michigan municipal corporation 
 
      By:         
 
      Its:  Clerk       
 
 
STATE OF    ) 
    )SS 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
 On this _____ day of ____________________, 2017, the foregoing instrument was 
acknowledged before me by ____________________, Supervisor, and ____________________, 
Clerk, of Charter Township of Ypsilanti, a Michigan municipal corporation on behalf of the 
corporation.  
 
 

_______________________________________ 
___________________________, Notary Public  
____________ County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:__________________  

      Acting in ______________ County, Michigan 
 
 
[Approved as to form & substance]  [Approved as to form only] 
 
 
             
 
DRAFTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

23 
 
 
 

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s Office 
Civic Center 
7200 S. Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
  



 
 

24 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

ORIGINAL PROPERTY 
 

Land situated in the Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of Michigan, described 
as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Section 34, T3S, R7E, Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw 
County, Michigan; thence S01° 00’ 43”E 60.33 feet along the East line of said Section 34 and 
the centerline of Tuttle Hill Road (60-foot ½ width); thence N84° 58’ 45”W 60.33 feet parallel 
with the North line of said Section 34 for a PLACE OF BEGINNING; thence S01° 00’ 43”E 
2191.09 feet along the West Right-of-Way line of said Tuttle Hill Road; thence S88° 21’ 21”W 
1264.00 feet; thence N00° 53’ 25”W 2096.77 feet; thence S84° 58’ 45”E 603.20 feet; thence 
N00° 53’ 25”W 241.32 feet; thence S84° 58’ 45”E 662.77 feet along the South Right-of-Way 
line of Merritt Road (60-foot ½ width) to the Place of Beginning, containing 66.27 acres of land. 
More or less being part of the Northeast ¼ of said Section 34. 
 
  



 
 

25 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PROPERTY 
 
 
Land situated in the Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of Michigan, described 
as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Section 34, T3S, R7E, Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw 
County, Michigan; thence S01°00'43"E 60.33 feet along the East line of said Section 34 and the 
centerline of Tuttle Hill Road (60-foot 1/2 width); thence N84°58'45"W 60.33 feet parallel with 
the North line of said Section 34 for a PLACE OF BEGINNING; thence S01°00'43"E 906.16 
feet along the West Right-of-Way line of said Tuttle Hill Road; thence S85°33'57"W 604.36 
feet; thence S02°45'18"W 209.58 feet; thence S86°08'43"W 645.50 feet; thence N00°53'25"W 
1075.11 feet; thence S84°58'45"E 603.20 feet; thence N00°53'25"W 241.32 feet; thence 
S84°58'45"E 662.77 feet along the South Right-of-Way line of Merritt Road (60-foot 1/2 width) 
to the Place of Beginning, containing 28.97 acres of land, more or less, being a part of the 
Northeast 1/4  of said Section 34. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

26 
 
 
 

 
EXHIBIT C 

 
Approved Plans and Elevations  





































Re
v.

 1
1/

18
/1

6

13001 23 Mile Road, Suite 200 | Shelby Township, MI 48315 | (888) 9-LOMBARDO | LombardoHomes.com
EQUAL HOUSING

OPPORTUNITY

1,376-1,658 Sq. Ft. | 3 Bedrooms |  2 Baths

Nature Series

THE FRANKLIN

European RomanticCraftsman

American ClassicAmerican Traditional



This depiction represents an artist’s conception of the elevation and floor plan and is not intended to be an exact representation 
or show specific detailing. Plans remain subject to change without notice. Drawings are not to scale. All measurements shown are 
approximate and not necessarily to scale. Location, size and construction of doors, windows, wall, fireplaces and any other items 
depicted may vary depending on elevation preference or choice of options and are subject to change without notice. Some options 
and elevations shown may not be available in every neighborhood; see Sales Manager for details. Due to normal construction 
tolerances, the room sizes shown may vary slightly. The Builder may change home design, materials, features and methods of 
construction without prior notice. Model homes may contain some optional features not available through the Builder.

Re
v.

 2
/3

/1
7

EQUAL HOUSING
OPPORTUNITY

1,376-1,658 Sq. Ft. | 3 Bedrooms |  2 Baths

Nature Series

THE FRANKLIN



Re
v.

 9
/2

/1
6

13001 23 Mile Road, Suite 200 | Shelby Township, MI 48315 | (888) 9-LOMBARDO | LombardoHomes.com
EQUAL HOUSING

OPPORTUNITY

1,687-2,055 Sq. Ft. | 3 Bedrooms |  2 Baths

Nature Series

THE BROOKE

European Romantic

American CountryAmerican Traditional

CraftsmanEarly American



This depiction represents an artist’s conception of the elevation and floor plan and is not intended to be an exact representation 
or show specific detailing. Plans remain subject to change without notice. Drawings are not to scale. All measurements shown are 
approximate and not necessarily to scale. Location, size and construction of doors, windows, wall, fireplaces and any other items 
depicted may vary depending on elevation preference or choice of options and are subject to change without notice. Some options 
and elevations shown may not be available in every neighborhood; see Sales Manager for details. Due to normal construction 
tolerances, the room sizes shown may vary slightly. The Builder may change home design, materials, features and methods of 
construction without prior notice. Model homes may contain some optional features not available through the Builder.

Re
v.

 9
/2

/1
6

EQUAL HOUSING
OPPORTUNITY

1,687-2,055 Sq. Ft. | 3 Bedrooms |  2 Baths

Nature Series

THE BROOKE



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President    Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President    John L. Enos, Principal 

   David Scurto, Principal   Benjamin R. Carlisle, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal    Craig Strong, Principal    R. Donald Wortman, Principal   

Laura K. Kreps, Associate     Paul Montagno, Associate 

 

March 27, 2017 
 

 

Brenda Sumbo, Supervisor 

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

Larry Doe, Treasurer 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 

 

Re: Seaver Farms Request for Qualifications 

 

 

Dear Board Members: 

 

At the Board work session on March 21, 2017, I was requested to describe to the 

Board a process to select a Master Developer to market and develop the 

Seaver Farms parcel. A Concept Development Plan was also discussed with the 

Board.  

 

The Township Board will be requested to provide authorization to proceed with 

the issuance of a Request for Qualifications to select a Master Developer for 

either a portion or all of the Seaver Farms parcel.  

 

The process for the selection of a Master Developer will be systematic and , if all 

goes well, will culminate with a recommendation to the Township Board to 

select a Master Developer for the site.  In summary, the process will involve the 

following steps: 

 

1. Finalize the Request for Qualifications solicitation. 

2. Working through the Township Clerk, the RFQ will be advertised and 

distributed to prospective developers. 

3. Schedule and conduct a pre-proposal meeting with interested 

developers. 

4. Receive qualifications statements and review in accordance with 

established criteria. 

5. Conduct in-depth interviews with selected developers based on 

evaluation of qualifications statements. 



Seaver Farms Request for Qualifications 

March 27, 2017 
 

 

 

2 
 

6. Recommend to Township Board a developer candidate to enter into 

detailed negotiations. 

7. Present Master Developer Agreement to Township Board for final 

approval. 

 

 

 

 

Throughout this process, we will work closely with both the Township Attorney’s 

office  as well as Mr. Radzik. Please let me know if there are any questions. 

 

Yours Truly, 
 

 
 

 

 

#339-1607 
 
 

 

Cc: M. Radzik, OCS Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Request for Qualifications 
For the 

Purchase and Development of 
The Seaver Parcel – Phases I and II 

 
 
 
 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Michigan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Release Date:_____________ 

 

 

Response Date:_____________ 

  



 

 

Description of Site 

 

The Charter Township of Ypsilanti owns 37 acres known as Seaver Farms located 

on the west side of Huron Street between I-94 and Huron River Drive. The Township 

is seeking a Master Developer for Phase I of the site which is approximately 13 

acres or, in the alternative, both Phase I and II which is a total of 37 acres (see 

Figure 1). 

 

Utilities: The site is served by public water and sewer which has adequate 

capacity. 

 

Access: The site is located on Huron Street, which has excellent access from a full 

interchange of I-94. Huron Street is a five-lane cross section. The property is 

bordered on the south by Brinker Drive and on the west by Seaver Way. 

 

Zoning: The property is currently zoned IRO. However, the Township will consider 

rezoning the property in accordance with the Master Plan. 

 

Site Development Goals 

 

The site is located within the area designated as “Town Center” by the Township 

Master Plan. As such, the Seaver Farms property offers an excellent opportunity 

for mixed use hotel, restaurant and retail development. It is strategically located 

in a central part of the Township where there is existing hotel, retail, restaurant, 

residential, governmental and industrial research office development.  

 

The Township has prepared a Concept Development Plan for the property (see 

Figure 2). While the Master Developer may propose deviations from the Concept 

Development Plan, the Township is seeking the following: 

 

 Commercial development in Phase I that will serve as a catalyst for mixed 

use development of Phase 2 of the Seaver Farms property. 

 Mixed use residential/commercial/office in Phase 2. 

 An internal street network that creates identifiable development blocks. 

 A walkable design with community open space. 

 The use of quality building materials and finishes. 

 Buildings which predominantly relate to the street frontages. 

 

Responsibilities of the Master Developer 

 

The Master Developer would be responsible for the marketing and development 

of the site. This would include, but is not limited to, site planning, site preparation, 

engineering, the identification of users, and the potential building of product for 

tenants.  



 

 

 

The Master Developer should be able to demonstrate: 

 

 The ability to undertake planning studies to address infrastructure, 

environmental, and land development issues not fully-developed and/or 

addressed in the Seaver Farm Concept Plan. 

 The ability to finance or obtain financing to begin and sustain the 

development process. 

 Relationships with other professional firms to build the necessary team. 

 Relationships with potential end users and tenants for the development. 

 Extensive experience in all phases of the development process and 

experience in multi-product/mixed-use development including residential, 

retail, office, commercial and industrial. 

 

RFQ Submission Requirements 

 

Interested master developers (or teams) should submit the following information: 

 

 Development Concept – As indicated, a Concept Development Plan for 

the entire Seaver Parcel has been prepared. It is the Township’s intent to 

have the site developed in accordance with the plans. Developers may 

submit alternate plans provided such plans are consistent with the 

Township’s intent. 

 Development Entity – Identify the entity which would contract or otherwise 

enter into formal relationship with the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

including all joint venture/limited partners, indicating respective 

percentage interests. Including a complete list of names, addresses, phone 

numbers, and e-mail addresses for all parties.  

 

o State intended role of each development partner in the 

implementation of the development and the responsible entity in the 

organization structure for the ongoing management. 

o Name principal in charge. 

o Include resumes of key individuals who would implement this project. 

 

 Financial Capability – Submit any publicly available financial 

documentation such as annual reports, which describe the company’s 

financial capability. Any information that is intended to be confidential shall 

be submitted separately and clearly labeled Confidential Financial 

Information. Other information that may be requested: 

 

o Composition of real estate portfolio by project and land use in such 

project. 

o Comparable recent experience (last 2-3 years) in securing financing 



 

 

detailing type of project, financing sources, level of funding and 

closing dates. 

o List of projects currently under planning and development including 

status, development schedule, and financial commitments required 

of developer. 

 

 Relevant Experience and Background – Describe relevant project 

experience, particularly with mixed use developments, including a 

summary of the experience of the Master Developer in managing projects 

that required interaction with a broad range of interested parties from both 

the private and public sectors. 

 

General Instructions 

 

 Prior to submitting a qualifications statement, a mandatory pre-proposal 

meeting will be held on ______ at 10:00 a.m. in the Township Civic Center, 

Room 104. 

 The qualification package and 5 copies (6 total) should be submitted in a 

sealed envelope, clearly marked “Seaver Parcel Qualifications” on its face 

to: 

 

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Township Clerk 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 

 Qualifications must be received at the above address no later than 11:00 

a.m. on ________ to be considered. 

 Qualifications should be limited to 10 pages, excluding resumes of assigned 

personnel and firm experience, and should contain at least the following 

items: 

o Summary of the qualifications of all key personnel assigned to this 

project. 

o Summary of your understanding of the project and your approach to 

it. 

 Qualifications received prior to the time of opening will be secured 

unopened. The person opening the qualifications will do so on or after the 

specified time. Qualifications received after the schedule receipt time will 

not be accepted and will be marked “LATE”.  

 Questions concerning the required submittals and procedures should be 

addressed to:  klovejoyroe@ytown.org .  A response will be distributed to all 

parties. 

 

 The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to reject any and/or all 

mailto:klovejoyroe@ytown.org


 

 

Qualifications/Proposals, in whole or in part. The successful Master 

Developer will have thirty (30) days from the date of award of the project 

to execute a contract with the Township. 

 

SELECTION PROCESS 

 

Qualifications will be evaluated by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. Firms (or 

teams of firms) with the top submittals may be asked to make formal presentations 

to the selection committee. 

 

All submittals will be acknowledged in writing. Firms selected for personal 

appearances will be notified by telephone regarding the time and date of their 

interviews. The Master Developer will be selected based on these 

evaluations/interviews.  

 

The following criteria will be used to evaluate qualifications: 

 

 Qualifications of Development Entity/Team – with emphasis on 

lead/contact person 

 Financial Capability of the Master Developer/Team 

 Nature and quality of relevant experience and background 

 

 Understanding of the project and the Master Developer’s roles, 

relationships and responsibilities 

 

Upon completion of the evaluation of the Qualification Statements and interviews 

of selected teams, the Township will select 1-2 teams to enter into specific 

negotiations which will include, but not be limited to: 

 

 Acquisition price 

 Development concept 

 Development schedule 

 

Equal opportunity: The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is an equal opportunity 

employer and will select a Master Developer without regard to age, handicap, 

religion, creed or belief, political affiliation, race, color, sex, or national origin. 

 







 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees 
 
FROM: Jeff Allen, Director – Residential Services Department 
 
DATE:  March 27, 2017 
 
RE: Approval of a contract with OHM in the amount of $11,456.50 for  

Construction Services as detailed  
 
 
OHM has administered the Green Oaks path project to date.  Going forward, they  
are requesting $11,456.50 to oversee the major portions of the project.  They  
would be covering the construction observation, engineering, & administration for  
the work that Best Asphalt would be doing.   
 
The $11,456.50 amount represents 4.4%, which a very low fee, compared to  
typical percentage rates.  The details of their work is included in the attached  
“estimated allocation of resources and cost”.   
 
This work by OHM would be paid out of account #584.584.000.701.000.   
 
Matt Parks will be present at the board meeting should you have any questions on  
this matter.   

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Residential Services Division 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 484.0073 
Fax:  (734)544.3501 

 
www.ytown.org 

  

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 
HEATHER ROE 

MONICA ROSS-WILLIAMS 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

 

http://www.ytown.org/


 
 
 

 

March 27, 2017 
 
 
Mr. Jeff Allen 
Residential Services Director 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
 
RE: Green Oaks Golf Course Cart Path Improvements 
 Construction Services – As Needed 
 
 
Dear Mr. Allen: 
 
OHM Advisors is pleased to provide as-needed construction services for the Green Oaks Golf Course Improvements 
project in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti.  Below is a breakdown of the requested scope of service followed by the 
fee schedule. 
 
Construction Observation 
OHM Advisors will provide as-needed part-time construction observation services for this project.  This proposal includes 
the supervision of inspection and coordination time prior to the project and part time inspection during the project.  It is 
anticipated that daily measurement of quantities as well as a brief check-in with the Contractor will be necessary to assist 
the Township with administering the contract and verifying work completed by the Contractor.  If the contractor requires 
more time than this for the major items of work, we can discuss if further observation is desired.  A final inspection with 
Township Staff is also included and will be performed for various restoration activities, as needed or as requested by the 
Township (e.g. landscape, lawns, etc.).   
 
Construction Engineering 
OHM Advisors will provide construction engineering services for the pulverizing, grading and flat work portion of this 
project.  Construction engineering services will include but are not limited to: 

� Holding and attending one (1) preconstruction meeting 
� Consulting with and advising the Owner or its designated representative during construction 
� Reviewing material certification provided by the contractor 
� Answering requests for information (RFIs) from the contractor 
� Evaluating design changes or recommended alternatives presented by the contractor 

 
Construction Administration 
OHM Advisors will provide necessary contract administration services for the project.  Contract administration services 
will include the following for the Township: 

� Assisting the Owner in reviewing and processing payment estimates for the contractor 
� Assisting with the preparation of a final balancing change order 
� Performing preliminary and final reviews of the completed project and preparing substantial completion 

certificates, along with the preparation of punch lists and confirmation of the resolution for punch list items 
� Preparation and distribution of punchlists. 

 
  



Mr. Jeff Allen – Green Oaks Golf Course CE Services – As Needed 
March 27, 2017  
Page 2 of 2 

 

FEE SCHEDULE 
OHM Advisors proposes to provide the above outlined professional services on an hourly – not to exceed basis, in 
accordance with our 2017 Rate Schedule.  Invoices will be sent monthly as work is performed. 
 
 Construction Observation    $6,500.00 
 Contract Engineering    $2,350.00 

Construction Administration (Bidding Assistance) $2,610.00 
 TOTAL     $11,460.00 (Hourly not to exceed) 
 
DELIVERABLES 
A final pay estimate and final acceptance letter will be issued upon project completion as well as copies of the IDRs (with 
sketches) for record information. 
 
BASIS OF PAYMENT 
OHM Advisors will invoice the Township once a month on an hourly not to exceed basis.  
 
We thank you for this opportunity to provide professional engineering services.  Should there be any questions, please 
don’t hesitate to contact us. 
 
If this proposal is acceptable to you, a signature on the enclosed copy of this letter and initials on the contract terms and 
conditions will serve as our authorization to proceed.  Thank you for giving us the opportunity to present this proposal 
to you.  We look forward to working with you throughout this project. 

 
OHM ADVISORS      Charter Township of Ypsilanti   
CONSULTANT       CLIENT  
 
 
          (Signature)        
 
Matthew D. Parks, P.E.          (Name)  Ms. Brenda Stumbo    
 
Principal in Charge           (Title)  Township Supervisor    
 
             (Date)        
 
 
    
 
          (Signature)        
 

       (Name)  Ms. Karen Lovejoy Roe    
 
             (Title)  Township Clerk     
 

        (Date)        



 
 

MEMORANDUM

TO: Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees 

FROM: Jeff Allen, Director – Residential Services Department 

DATE:  March 28, 2017 

RE: Approval to hire Hobbs & Black to study, design and oversee bid 
administration for 14B Court security-not to exceed $20,000 

Mark Nelson and I have been working on bringing 14B Court up to the security 
standards that are at all other district and county courts for over a year now.  

Recently, we brought in three architectural firms to look at the best / least  
expensive way to do this.  We received 3 proposals to bring court patrons in  
through the Civic Center doors and corral them to the Court. Hobbs and Black 
seemed to have the best grasp on what was needed from a police/security  
standpoint, as well as a building re-design.  

However, after meeting with the three full-time officials, we all decided that  
keeping all of the court business and their current entry and exit may be the better  
option. In that, the recommendation was to hire Hobbs and Black as a professional 
service architect to study & design the best way to accommodate a security system 
comparable to all the other courts.  We would want Hobbs and Black to  
provide consultation on the best and most cost effective location for the security  
set-up. In addition, we would ask that they prepare bid documents and oversee the  
bidding process from start to finish, including construction.  

We estimate this cost as a not-to-exceed $20,000 and to be paid out of account 
236.136.000.974.025.  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Residential Services Division 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 484.0073 
Fax:  (734)544.3501 

www.ytown.org 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 
HEATHER ROE 

MONICA ROSS-WILLIAMS 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

http://www.ytown.org/




 
 
 

 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:   Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 

    Larry Doe, Treasurer  
    Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

 
Date:      March 28, 2017 
 
RE:        Request for Approval of a Community Tourism Action Plan (CTAP) 

Grant Application Requesting $10,000.00 and for a Matching Fund 
Contribution of $1,000.00 budgeted in Line Item #230-751-000-880-000 

 
The CTAP program has tourism marketing and development investment funds available 
through small grants of $10,000 each offered through the Washtenaw County 
Convention and Visitors Bureau.  Ypsilanti Township is collaborating with the Yankee 
Air Museum (YAM) to apply for a $10,000 grant to promote and market a major event to 
set a new Guinness World Record for the Largest Gathering of People Dressed as 
Rosie the Riveter.  The one-day event planned for October 14, 2017 will heighten 
awareness of efforts to renovate the Willow Run Bomber Plant.  The Bomber Plant will 
be the new home of the Yankee Air Museum and a major tourist destination when it 
opens.   
 
The CTAP grant requires two partners and a $2,000 cash match from two separate 
organizations.  The Yankee Air Museum will provide a $1,000 match along with the 
$1,000 match from Ypsilanti Township.  
 
Project success will be measured using several different criteria. First, online 
registrations will be taken to pre-register for the event. Second, overnight hotel stays will 
be measured by the number of reservations made with a discount code specifically for 
the event. Another criteria for measuring success will be through dining out in local 
restaurants. Coupons will be made available to participants at the event and use of the 
coupons will be tracked by the individual restaurants and reported back. The final two 
measurements will be press coverage and museum donations. The Yankee Air 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS 

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

Clerk’s Office 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River 
Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
Phone:  (734) 484-4700 

Fax:  (734) 484-5156 



Museum hopes to receive enough in donations at the Rosie the Riveter event to pay for 
the costs associated with the event.  
 
If you have any questions please contact Supervisor Brenda Stumbo, Treasurer Larry 
Doe or Clerk Karen Lovejoy Roe, as we have all worked on this project and grant.  
 
Thank you for your consideration.   
 
 
 
 















 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 



 

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 

 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees 
 
FROM: Jeff Allen, Director – Residential Services Department 
 
DATE:  March 27, 2017 
 
RE: Request Approval to Award Low Bid to Best Asphalt for Green Oaks 

Cart Path Improvements in an amount not to exceed $272,837.00 
 
OHM conducted a bid opening on behalf of the Township on Friday, March 24 for  
the Green Oaks golf course cart path improvements.  
 
We opened bids from four companies with prices ranging from $257,837.00 to  
$532,732.10.  Best Asphalt was the low-bidder at $257,837.00; however, OHM is  
recommending we allow for a contingency of an additional $15,000 (5.8%) to help  
cover unforeseen issues or field additions as determined by the Township.  This  
would create a project total of $272,837.00.   
 
 Enclosed is the bid tabulation, along with a memo from OHM recommending 
 the Township award the bid to Best Asphalt. 
 
You may recall that this new work will include minimal additional asphalt, but this  
will take care of present safety issues, cement work in front of the Pro Shop area,  
and removal of trees (roots). A large percentage of this new work is to pulverize  
the paths and leave them in place as loose gravel. 
 
This will be paid out of the golf course account #584.584.000.971.000. 
 
OHM and I will be present at the meeting should you have any questions.  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Residential Services Division 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 484.0073 
Fax:  (734)544.3501 

 
www.ytown.org 

  

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 
HEATHER ROE 

MONICA ROSS-WILLIAMS 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

 

http://www.ytown.org/


 

 

 

 

March 27, 2017 
 
 
Mr. Jeff Allen 
Residential & 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
 
 
RE: Recommendation of Award  

Green Oaks Golf Course Cart Path Improvements 
 
 
Dear Mr. Allen: 
 
Sealed bids for the Green Oaks Golf Course Cart Path Improvements construction project were received and publicly 
read aloud at 2:00 p.m. on Friday March 24, 2017 at the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Civic Center.  Seven (7) prospective 
contractors obtained plans and specifications for the project.  Proposals were received from four (4) bidders with as-
checked results ranging from $257,837.00 to $532,732.10. 
 
The low bid was received from Best Asphalt, located at 6334 N. Beverly Plaza, Romulus, MI 48174 in the amount of 
$257,837.00.  In reviewing their bid, all required information, including bond surety, statement of qualifications, and 
subcontractors listing, has been provided.  The engineer’s estimate for the project was $296,000.00.   
 
It is felt that Best Asphalt and their subcontractors are capable of performing the work based on past experiences, 
referenced projects, and information provided with the statement of qualifications in the bid package.  Based on the 
submitted information, it is recommended that the Green Oaks Golf Course Cart Path Improvements work be 
awarded to Best Asphalt of Romulus, MI in the amount of $257,837.00.  We also recommend a contingency 
budget of $15,000.00 to help cover unforeseen issues such as unmarked sprinkler lines/heads or additional work 
that may be determined in the field.  This results in a total recommended construction budget of $272,837.00, 
which is still significantly below the final engineer’s estimate. 
 
Should there be any questions, please contact this office at (734) 522-6711. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
OHM Advisors,  

 
Matthew D. Parks 
 
Encl. Bid Tab 
cc: Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 
 Jessica Howard, OHM Advisors 



Tabulation for Bids Received on 3/24/17 Best Asphalt, Inc. Anglin Civil, LLC TLS Construction Pavex Corporation

Green Oaks Golf Course Cart Path Improvements 6334 N. Beverly Plaza 13000 Newburgh Rd. 5833 Annabette Ln. 2654 Van Horn Rd.

Charter Township of Ypsilanti, State of Michigan Romulus, MI  48174 Livonia, MI 48150 Howell, MI 48855 Trenton, MI  48183

OHM Job No.: 0098-16-0030  

  

Phone: 734-729-9440 Phone: 248-397-4200 Phone: 517-404-5590 Phone: 734-676-6220

Item Estimated Unit Unit Unit Unit 

No. Description Quantity Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount 

1) Mobilization, Max. 5% 1 LS $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $16,500.00 $16,500.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 

2) Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Fabric Drop 5 Ea $100.00 $500.00 $125.00 $625.00 $125.00 $625.00 $125.00 $625.00 

3) Erosion Control, Silt Fence 1000 Ft $1.00 $1,000.00 $3.00 $3,000.00 $2.00 $2,000.00 $2.00 $2,000.00 

4) Stump, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch  3 Ea $800.00 $2,400.00 $400.00 $1,200.00 $300.00 $900.00 $500.00 $1,500.00 

5) Pavt, Rem  1035 Syd $10.00 $10,350.00 $15.00 $15,525.00 $10.00 $10,350.00 $12.00 $12,420.00 

6) HMA Base Crushing and Shaping 14063 Syd $4.00 $56,252.00 $3.60 $50,626.80 $5.00 $70,315.00 $14.70 $206,726.10 

7) Station Grading, Path, Case A 221.8 Sta $275.00 $60,995.00 $500.00 $110,900.00 $575.00 $127,535.00 $385.00 $85,393.00 

8) Station Grading, Path, Case B 10.5 Sta $900.00 $9,450.00 $1,000.00 $10,500.00 $650.00 $6,825.00 $700.00 $7,350.00 

9) Aggregate Base, 21AA 442 Ton $65.00 $28,730.00 $35.00 $15,470.00 $25.00 $11,050.00 $50.00 $22,100.00 

10) Recycled Asphalt 100 Ton $20.00 $2,000.00 $50.00 $5,000.00 $18.00 $1,800.00 $40.00 $4,000.00 

11) HMA, 36A 165 Ton $140.00 $23,100.00 $130.00 $21,450.00 $162.00 $26,730.00 $155.00 $25,575.00 

12) Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch  300 Sft $6.00 $1,800.00 $7.00 $2,100.00 $6.00 $1,800.00 $7.50 $2,250.00 

13) Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch  580 Sft $7.00 $4,060.00 $8.60 $4,988.00 $6.85 $3,973.00 $8.50 $4,930.00 

14) Surface Restoration 236 Sta $200.00 $47,200.00 $200.00 $47,200.00 $250.00 $59,000.00 $563.00 $132,868.00 

TOTAL BID AMOUNT $257,837.00  $303,584.80  $339,403.00  $532,737.10  

H:\Municipal\_Group Operations\Bid Tabs\Ypsi Twp\[bidtab 0098-16-0030 rebid.xls]Sheet1

Prepared by OHM Advisors Page 1 of 1 3/24/17



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees 
 
FROM: Jeff Allen, Director – Residential Services Department 
 
DATE:  March 24, 2017 
 
RE: Approve the awarding of the Community Center roof replacement 

project to the low-bidder, Royal Roofing in the amount of $106,799   
 
 
Please see the attached letter with the bidding matrix on the Community Center 
roof project.  Royal roofing was the low bidder at $104,477.  They are one of the 
largest roofing companies in the state and have a very good reputation.  We also 
ask the bidders to include an addition.  The add area is an area of block wall on the 
front of the Community Center that shows severe peeling.  This vertical wall 
requires a sealer-type roof paint in order for it to adhere properly.  It appears that 
the last material put on this block was regular paint.  This sealing work was only 
$2,322 to include this in the project. We recommend doing this; you can see this in 
the photos.  
 
As you may recall, we estimated the cost of this to be between $125,000-$150,000.  
We feel we hit the best time to bid this out in order to get such a good price.   
 
This will be paid out of the capital outlay-Community Center account  
#212.970.000.976.008, and we expect it to be finished by late spring. 
 
I have spoken with both Angie Verges and Kirk Sherwood to discuss some  
inconveniences to their operations during this roof work. The very south 15’ or so 
will be blocked off, as will the east side of the building for 13’.  This will still  
allow access for pedestrians and vehicles to the front of the building.  However, we  
will have to contact AAATA to temporarily move their bus stop.  
 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Residential Services Division 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 484.0073 
Fax:  (734)544.3501 

 
www.ytown.org 

  

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 
HEATHER ROE 

MONICA ROSS-WILLIAMS 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

 

http://www.ytown.org/


THE GARLAND COMPANY, INC.
PERFORMANCE ROOFING AND FLOORING SYSTEMS

3800 EAST 91 STREET • CLEVELAND, OHIO 44105-2197
PHONE: (216) 641-7500 • FAX: (216) 641-0633

NATIONWIDE: 1-800-321-9336

March 21th, 2017

Jeff Allen
Charter Township of Ypsilanti
7200 S. Huron Dr.
Ypsilanti, MI 48197
SUBJECT: Community Center – 2017 Roof Work – Bid Recommendation Letter

Jeff,

The Township recently publicly solicited competitive roof bids for a roof sections located at the
Community Center to be completed during the 2017 calendar year. The district timed this pre-bid
properly and the bid results proved to be less than the anticipated budget. In addition, the low bidder
provided a competitive number to complete a small needed repair to an adjacent wall section in need of
water-proof coating.

Below are the bid results from the recent pre-bid:

Contractor Base Bid Adder
Royal Roofing $104,477 (low bid) $2,322 (low bid)
Schena Roofing $109,000 $6,550
LaDuke Roofing $118,000 $10,000
Lutz Roofing $112,780 $4,360
Brown & Son Roofing $137,679 $5,065

The specifications and details developed for this project were specifically designed to ensure The
Charter Township of Ypsilanti receives a quality project with proper installation from a local contractor
capable of performing this scope of work.  In addition, the small repair “adder” listed above should be
completed at the same time as the “Base Bid” as this repair is more economical while a contractor is
already on-site.  We recommend proceeding with the low bidder, Royal Roofing, for a total of $106,799
in an effort to complete this entire project under the originally anticipated budget.

Sincerely,

Brad Konvolinka
Roof Management Specialist
The Garland Company, Inc.

Brad Konvolinka
Phone: (734) 770-4343
Email: Brad.Konvolinka@garlandind.com



“Adder” wall section:

photo evidence:















Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees  

From: Tim Smith, Green Oaks Golf Superintendent 

Date: March 27, 2017 

Subject: Request to Waive the Financial Policy and Award the Low Quote to Spartan 
Distributor for the Purchase of a Toro Groundmaster 7200 in the Amount of 
$17,927.35 and a Harper Turbo Vac TV40 RE in the Amount of $21,742.00 
for a Total Amount of $39,669.35 Budgeted in Line Item #584-584-000-971-
000 

We are requesting to waive the financial policy and award the low quotes for the above 
listed equipment to Spartan Distributors. 

Quotes were obtained from the following vendors: 

Toro Groundsmaster Mower Harper Turbo Vac 
Spartan Distributors 17,927.35 21,742.00 
Century Equipment 19,028.00 23,951.00 

Reinders 19,256.40 23,100.00 

Spartan is the only dealer for the above equipment in Michigan. They are also participants 
in the National IPA, and we would be purchasing this equipment under the contract number 
#120535. 

We had originally looked at purchasing an additional TORO Mower for approximately 
$60,000.00, but instead we will be working in cooperation with the Residential Services 
Department to repair a 2006 and a 2007 mower, one that will be used by the golf course 
and one that will be used as a back up by the Parks and Grounds Department. The repair 
costs for these mowers is estimated to be approximately $20,000.00 each.  

Should you have any questions, please contact me. 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS 

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

Green Oaks 
Golf Course 

7200 S. Huron River 
Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
Phone:  (734) 484-4700 

Fax:  (734) 484-5156 










	April 4, 2017
	Work Session Agenda
	Manors at Creekside Village Update 
	Review Agenda
	Other Discussion

	Regular Meeting Agenda
	Public Comments
	Consent Agenda
	March 21, 2017 Work Session Minutes
	March 21, 2017 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Statements and Checks April 4, 2017

	Attorney Report
	New Business
	Budget Amendment #5
	Request to Approve Planned Developement Agreement for Manors at Creekside Village
	Request to Proceed with Issuing RFQ for Master Developer for Seaver Farm Property
	Request Approval of OHM Contract to Oversee Green Oaks Cart Path Work
	Request to Hire Hobbs and Black for 14B Security Work
	Request Approval of CTAP Grant Application and Matching Fund Contribution

	Other Business
	Authorizations and Bids
	Request to Award Low Bid for Green Oaks Cart Path Improvements
	Request to Award Low Bid for Community Center Roof Replacement
	Request to Award Low Quote for Toro Mower and Harper Vac Purchase for Green Oaks




